

FINAL REPORT

REPORT

Mary River Project

2021 Ringed Seal Aerial Survey

Submitted to:

Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation

2275 Upper Middle Road East - Suite 300, Oakville, Ontario, L6H 0C3

Submitted by:

Golder Associates Ltd.

Suite 200 - 2920 Virtual Way, Vancouver, British Columbia, V5M 0C4, Canada

+1 604 296 4200

1663724-351-R-Rev0-41000

31 August 2022

Executive Summary

The ringed seal aerial survey program (RSASP) was conducted by Golder in the North Baffin area during June 2021. The first objective of the survey was to document ringed seal density and distribution along the Northern Shipping Route in the Regional Study Area (RSA) and to allow for a comparison with previous results obtained in 2016 and 2017 (Young et al. 2019). The second objective of the survey was to identify ringed seal hotspots throughout the RSA and identify overlaps with hotspots identified in 2016 and 2017 (Yurkowski et al. 2018).

Two types of analyses were performed on the 2021 dataset. Strip-transect analysis of infrared imagery combined with digital photographs was used to calculate densities of ringed seals in the RSA, and density surface modelling was used to identify ringed seal hotspots in the RSA.

Results from the 2021 forward-looking infrared (FLIR) survey indicated that ringed seal densities are stable in Eclipse Sound (ES) and Navy Board Inlet (NB) strata and increased in Milne Inlet (MI) stratum compared to surveys flown in 2016. A comparison in the ES stratum of the highest estimate in 2021 (1.04 seals/km², CV = 0.08) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.92 seals/km², CV = 0.09) indicated no statistically significant difference in density estimates in ES stratum (z-score = 1.02, p = 0.31). Similarly, a comparison in the NB stratum of the highest estimate in 2021 (0.83 seals/km², CV = 0.12) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.74 seals/km², CV = 0.43) indicated no statistically significant difference in density estimates in NB stratum (t-test = 0.27, p = 0.79). In the Milne Inlet (MI) stratum ringed seal densities were higher in 2021 compared to previous surveys in 2016 and 2017. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2021 (2.84 seals/km², CV = 0.15) with the highest estimate in 2016 (1.40 seals/km², CV = 0.12) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2021 in the MI stratum (t-test = 3.14, p = 0.003). However, surveys flown prior to 2016 indicated MI stratum varies in ringed seal densities annually.

Ringed seal hotspots were identified in similar geographic areas in 2021 as in 2016–2017, with hotspots in western Eclipse Sound, southern Milne Inlet and Tremblay Sound. The eastern Eclipse Sound hotspot identified in 2016 and 2017 was not present in 2021. The northern half of Navy Board Inlet had low sightings of ringed seals in all years (2016, 2017, and 2021).

Ringed seal aerial surveys for the Project were also conducted in the North Baffin area during June 2014. The objective of the survey was to update baseline data on ringed seal density and distribution along the Northern Shipping Route in the RSA. Using data from these surveys, ringed seal density estimates were calculated by Golder for this report using two different methods (strip-transect and line-transect analysis) to allow for comparison with subsequent surveys flown in 2016 and 2017 (Young et al. 2019), and in 2021.

Results from the visual strip-transect analysis found similar ringed seal density estimates in ES stratum between 2014 and 2016. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (0.60 seals/km², CV = 0.07) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.52 seals/km², CV = 0.10) indicated no statistically significant difference in ringed seal densities (z-score = 1.25, p = 0.21). In the MI stratum ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2014 compared to subsequent surveys in 2016. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (1.45 seals/km², CV = 0.14) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.31 seals/km², CV = 0.17) indicated a statistically significantly higher density observed in 2014 in the MI stratum (t-test = 5.49, p < 0.001).

The MI stratum appeared to fluctuate in ring seal density annually. Ringed seal surveys flown in 2008 and 2014 saw high densities of ringed seal in MI (1.44 seals/km² and 1.45 seals/km², respectively; Baffinland 2012)

whereas ringed seal surveys flown in 2007 and 2016 observed lower densities of ringed seal in MI (0.27 seals/km² and 0.31 seals/km², respectively; Baffinland 2012; Young et al. 2019). Based on visual striptransect surveys flown in 2007, 2008, 2014, and 2016, ringed seal densities appeared to be stable in ES and variable in MI strata.

Results from the line-transect analysis found in the ES stratum ringed seal densities were higher in 2014 (ranged from 1.07 to 1.27 seals/km²) compared to 2016 (ranged from 0.57 to 0.79 seals/km²) surveys. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.09) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.79 seals/km², CV = 0.11) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2014 in the ES stratum (t-test = 3.36, p = 0.004). Similarly, in the MI stratum, ringed seal densities were higher in 2014 (ranged from 1.14 to 2.13 seals/km²) compared to 2016 (ranged from 0.93 to 1.27 seals/km²) surveys. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (2.13 seals/km², CV = 0.12) with the highest estimate in 2016 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.16) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2014 in the MI stratum (t-test = 2.66, p = 0.013).

Comparing 2021 infrared strip-transect densities (1.04 seals/km² in ES and 2.84 seals/km² in MI) to 2014 line-transect distance analysis densities (1.27 seals/km² in ES and 2.13 seals/km² in MI), no statistical difference was observed between the two years (t-test = 1.63, p = 0.013 and t-test = 1.44, p = 0.017, respectively). These results indicated ring seal densities have not changed in the RSA since the onset of shipping operations in 2015, and since Project icebreaking activities began in the shoulder seasons in 2018.

Mitigation measures in place for ringed seal have been carefully developed to completely avoid shipping impacts on ringed seal during periods when they are "grouped up" (i.e., the winter and spring) when group behaviour is critical to reproductive activities such as mating. The timing of the shipping season protects seals during the basking period and aims to avoid impacts on seals at the time when they start maintaining breathing holes during initial ice freeze-up.

The results of the 2021 RSASP showed ringed seal densities have overall remained stable since the onset of shipping operations in 2015, and since Project icebreaking activities began in the shoulder seasons in 2018. These results confirmed that mitigation measures were functioning as intended and that Project activities are being managed in a way that has not adversely affected ringed seals. Given that no changes to icebreaking operations are proposed within Baffinland's Phase 2 Proposal, these results also lend confidence to predictions made in Phase 2 impact assessment, which states that effects on ringed seal as a result of the Project would not result in population level effects (Golder, 2018).

31 August 2022

ᢙᢙᠣ᠘ᠼ᠆᠕᠆ᡐ᠆ᡐ᠆ᡐ᠆ᡐ᠆ᡐ᠆ᡧᢁ᠆ᡐ᠋ᢥᡧᡆᢙ᠈᠆ᡐᠰᡐᡭ᠊ᠫ᠕ᢞᠿ᠆ᢐ᠆ᡙ᠆ᢕ᠆ᡔᠲᠧ᠘᠆᠋᠆᠘᠆ᡩ᠆᠕᠊ 0.10) a_Δ $b_C = 0.21).$ a_Δ ϷϿʹσ΅<ʹϞͿϞʹͺΓͱϞϷϞϞϹϷϟͰͺϞʹ 2016–Γ (0.31 ϫ·Ϻʹ/ ΡέΓϹ Ρʹ<ሲኑϽ·, CV = 0.17) ϫϿϫΔჼϟϲϷʹͽ>ͽ ϫΔϞϷႶႶͿ· ▷_\$~\$\D`__∩` D`*^\5~2014-F 'P~ህ⊲σ (MI) ጜDት\\$σF (t-ጜDት\\$σዀ = 5.49, p ▷_^^ - መጜ\D`__∩` 0.001-F).

.د-℃2019, 2021–۲ د.), ۵۷۲۷ د-۲ ۵۱۵ -۲ ۵۱۵ -۳ ۵۷۱۶ د.

مدبات كمره بالمحالية المحافظ المحاف

د^^`¬ ک⊂^ ۲[®] ک⊂ کے د (2016, 2017, 2021 – .).

<u>ﯩ</u>ናሰና ፈራ፦ጋ⊲ርኄናርናምዮና ፈጋፈ∆ኈር⊳ﺩ⊳ኈ>ና ፈን≺ጋኄዮቍ ፊራዮን⊳፨ጋው 2021−Г ፈንዖሱጋው▷ 2016−2017−Γ, ▷<°C▷ィLﺫ∿ﻧネーシーᡔ ∧ᡅ^ᡅᢉ Cґ▷ᢣ᠋ᠮ, ᠤᡗᢦᠣ ᢡ᠋ᢣᠯᢦᢗ ᡐᡃ᠋᠘᠊᠋᠋᠔᠋᠂ᡗ᠉᠊ᡷ᠋ᠴ᠈ᠮ. ᢣᡅ^ᡅᠣ Cґ▷ᢣᠮ ▷<°C▷ィLذ∿i٬ċ

d/ነትናdም/Lላዄ፝ዮራም ውናም ውናም ውና ሥላ የነው አንር የላይ የርረ የአንድ (ES) የወር የአንድ (z-score = 1.02, p = 0.31). $<^{+}_{-}$ ላ ነት $<_{-}$ ምት b_{-} ምት $b_$ ቴ⊳ኦኣኈ⊳֊⊳ኈ⊃ቍ 2016-Г ⊲ᡃLጔ 2017-Γ. ቴኴ∆ኈቍኈኣሥቍኈՐኈ፞ዾና 'ժ气々ረ≟ኄ፞፞፞፝፝፝፞ጏጚና Γኑኣሥኣነ⊂ሥረLጚና 2021-Γ 2021-Γ CDዲታ የ^ሙህ⊲ታ (MI) ቴDኦኒቴCDᢣታ (t-ቴDኦኒኄታቄ = 3.14, p = 0.003). የł⊲ታታ, ቴDኦኒኄጋቡ ቴኒርቴናር∠▷ኄጋና 2016-Γ ዹጔዹፚ^ቈነ/ረLኆ '₽፝ህዻԺ (MI) ዄዾትኣኈ፝ርዾኆ ላነትሶ፝፝፞፝፝፝፝፝፞፝፝፝፝ የጐኇ፟ዮኇታ ፟፟፟ዹናሱና ዾናጐር ዻና፟፞፞፞ጏ፟፟፟כ፞፟፟፝፞፟፟፟፝፞፞፞፝፞፝፝

LናንΔ<∿ሁናታ፣ ኻ₽ት\ናኇዀርዀዾቝዀ 2021−Γ በበና፨ረLናና ኻ₽ት\ዀር₽ኇdδና. ⊲&ኑጋዀረLናም-ጋ₽<<%>ም ⊲ጋዀጋበ፣ <u>مدبار محم ۲۵۷ کې ۲۲، ۲۲، ۲۵ مې ۲۰ مې ۲</u> $\Delta - \Delta + \Delta h = h^2 - h^2 - h^2 + h^$

ቴ⊳ዖሃ⊳ኆ 2021−Γ ⊳∿Ⴑ⅃⋸-Ո⁰ժ⊲∿Ⴑ-⅃ℱ (FLIR) ቴ⊳ዖላኈሮ⊃ናሮላኈዮ உച∝∆ኈํイ⊂⊳ኈ>ኈ ፈናႶና ⊳ഛъ∽Րና ለናና፟፝፝ኆՐና⊃ና ርለ⊳ሃናΓ

ב<∩ናታ[™] ቴ∿し८ሥራ ቴ⊳ኦኣኈ⊳ዾ[™] (RSASP) ለ<ת<ת</>לעליש (RSASP) א ᠘ᡨᡄᡄ᠉᠕᠈᠊ᡟᢕᠵᡧ᠉᠄ᢒ᠘ᢣᡗᢛ᠋᠋᠋ᡔᠮ᠈᠆᠒᠆ᡩ᠆ᢁ᠆ᡧᢙ᠆᠆᠘᠖᠆᠆᠘᠆᠘᠆᠘᠆᠘᠆᠘᠆᠘᠆᠘ "ᢐ▷ᢣᢣ▷ᠠ᠘ᢞ ᠌᠌ᡏᡩ᠋᠋ᢖ᠋ᠵᡃ ᠌᠌᠌ᡆᢧ᠋᠋᠋᠅᠘ᠸ᠋᠋᠋᠅᠑ᡔᢧ᠈᠘᠘᠆᠘᠘᠆᠘᠘᠆ᠺ᠅᠘ᢕ᠉᠘᠘᠆ᠺ᠅ᡧ᠒᠊ᢐ᠉᠋ᢩᢕ ᠔ᡃᠲᢂ᠊ᠵᠣ᠈ᡣᡄ᠈᠘ᠴᠴ᠘᠊ᠴ᠘᠆ᢧᢂ᠋᠆᠘ᢞᢙᢙ᠊ᡆᢣ᠋᠋᠘ᢣᡥᢗ᠊ᢀᢂ᠊ᠴᡅ᠋᠋ᡔ᠋ᡝ᠆ᡗᢣ᠋ᡆᡓ᠋᠆ᡤ᠆ᢧ᠘ᡄ᠔᠘᠆ᢧ᠘᠊ᡆ᠋ᡃ᠆ᢣᢙᠣ᠈ᡝᡬᢦᠣᢪ



2018).

 P_{4}^{\prime} /d/▷ σ ይርርርርኮ»ጋ[®] > በፈረፈዋራ ም/ሀ-ጋ1 2018-Ľ ርሶዋሬ ምንሥራና ወገም አንድለ የሰላ ይንት እስራ መንግሥራ የሆኑን የ ⊲ካንልσና፴ና ቴራትኣቈቡና-ጋቦና, ዾቼ፨ረLኖ «ኦጋሪታና ዹናበና፴ና ኣ፨ዖናጋና ለራሲፈΓና ላ/ሃትፈታኈቦኈኇ ኦ፴ናምንቦኈ፴ና (Jጋ,

 Δ^{r}

·ႦͻΔ·σ·ϧϽϷͺͳ;ϳϹ 2021-Γ ϷϫͺͽϽϹͱͺ;Ϸϲϟ·ͽϽϒϲͺϔϿϲͺͽϷϷϟϧ;ͼϲͺϷͻͼͺϫͺͼͺ;ͺ; ር/ϷϧʹΓ (ES) ϤʹLͺͻ 2.13 ϫ·ʹՈʹ/ ΡέΓϹ Ρʹʹϲʹϫ·Ͻʹ ʹዋʹ·ປϤσ(MI)), ϫΔኣϷՈՈͿʹ ϤʹϞሶʹʹ·ʹͱʹͼʹϐϧͻϤϲϷʹʹʹϒͼϽʹ ϷʹϞϫϧϷϟσ $C^{+}d_{-}\sigma L^{-}D^{+}D^{-}\sigma (t-D^{+}D^{+}C^{+}\sigma = 1.63, p = 0.013$ $C\Delta L^{\infty}$ be and the provide the construction of the provided the transformed the transforme

(t-₺⊳è५º = 2.66, p = 0.013).

ʹϧϘϧϞϷϒ; ϽϧϲʹϝͺϧϽϲ-ϣϧϹͺͽϷϞΓϒͼ ϿϷϧϟϩͼ ϿϷϧϞΓϞͼ ϹϞϷϟͺ (ES) ͽϷϧϟϩͼ ϭͺϲͿͼ ϷϿϩϫϧ 2016−Γ (ላነኦሶ*ՐʰϽᢣና 0.57−Γ 0.79−⅃ና ᢏናᡤና/ የᡄΓϹ የ<<ኊንር) ኄ▷ኦኣ∿ር▷ዏሇ. ๒ዾ∆◦ዏኈኣ▷ዏኈՐ◦ዾና ፈነት<_Ր՟_ͻσϷካ, ϹϷ≪σ ੰ₽፝ป⊲σ (MI) ኄϷኦኣኄ⊂Ϸ๙ͽ, ໑՟Ⴖና Ϸ໑ናምኄϷﺩ⊵ϷͽϽና 2014-Γ (⊲ነኦሰኄՐኮϽና 1.14-Γ 2.13-⅃ የ<<ኊንና, CV = 0.12) ዾዾሩኄነናጋቦ ፑካላይላይላደኛ 2016-Γ (1.27 ዹናሱና/ የሬΓር የ<<ኊንና, CV = 0.16) ചച∆[%]ሃረ⊃[%]>[%] ፈ∆\⊃በበJ^c ⊃ዾናም[%]\⊃ም[^]Ր°ምⁱ ፈ^cበ^c ▷ⁱኦኪነ⊃∀^c 2014−Γ 'ዖ^{**}ህ⊲ም (MI) 'b⊃ኦ\[%]⊂>ላምⁱ

ʹ₽ʹʹ·ͿϤϭͺ (MI) ʹϞϷϟϞʹͼϹϷՈ·ͺͻͺͿͺ<u>Δ</u>LͽͺϫϷʹͽϟϫͺϷʹͽʹϷͽʹϭʹϒϲͺϫϲʹϳϲͺϤϞϟϔϐϲϹϫϒͽϭϒͼϭͺϤʹϚϳϽϹͺͰͺͺͺͼϲϳϲ ቴኮኦኣቄሮኮምኖና ቴኄしሮሥኖና ቴኄኒሮኦናናምኦሬኮዬጋና 2008-Γ 2014-Γ-ጋ ኦውናምኖሩሲሬኮዬሩላዮና ፈናሰና የምህላም (MI) (1.44 c⁻M⁻/ P⁻/ P⁻ 'የግህবራ (MI) (0.27 ፈናሰና/ ΡέΓC Ρ<<ሲኑጋ, «ዛሬጋ 0.31 ፈናሰና/ΡέΓC Ρ<<ሲኑጋ, ለነዛበዮ፡ጋዮና; <፞፞፞፞፞ <፟ 2012; ኦጐ acchc Dafer CaleaDereacouc Derec CrDefr (ES) dela diplomatice (MI) bDerec (M

STUDY LIMITATIONS

Golder Associates Inc. (Golder) has prepared this document in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the engineering and science professions currently practising under similar conditions in the jurisdiction in which the services are provided, subject to the time limits and physical constraints applicable to this document. No warranty, express or implied, is made.

This document, including all text, data, tables, plans, figures, drawings and other documents contained herein, has been prepared by Golder for the sole benefit of Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation (Baffinland). The Executive Summary was translated into Inuktitut and provided by Baffinland to Golder. In the event of discrepancies in information or interpretation, the English version shall prevail. This report represents Golder's professional judgement based on the knowledge and information available at the time of completion. Golder is not responsible for any unauthorized use or modification of this document. All third parties relying on this document do so at their own risk.

The factual data, interpretations, suggestions, recommendations and opinions expressed in this document pertain to the specific project, station conditions, design objective, development and purpose described to Golder by Baffinland, and are not applicable to any other project or station location. In order to properly understand the factual data, interpretations, suggestions, recommendations and opinions expressed in this document, reference must be made to the entire document.

This document, including all text, data, tables, plans, figures, drawings and other documents contained herein, as well as all electronic media prepared by Golder are considered its professional work product and shall remain the copyright property of Golder. Baffinland may make copies of the document in such quantities as are reasonably necessary for those parties conducting business specifically related to the subject of this document or in support of or in response to regulatory inquiries and proceedings. Electronic media is susceptible to unauthorized modification, deterioration and incompatibility and therefore no party can rely solely on the electronic media versions of this document.



Table of Contents

1.0	INTRODUCTION				
	1.1	Project Background	1		
	1.2	Regulatory Drivers and Community Engagement	3		
	1.3	Ringed Seal Background	4		
	1.3.1	Previous Ringed Seal Surveys	6		
2.0	2021	RINGED SEAL FORWARD-LOOKING INFRARED SURVEY	7		
	2.1	Objectives	7		
	2.2	Study Area and Design	7		
	2.2.1	Survey Adaptations	9		
	2.3	Material and Methods	9		
	2.3.1	Field Methodology	9		
	2.3.2	Data Analysis	.10		
	2.3.2.1	Strip-Transect Analysis for Densities	.10		
	2.3.2.2	2 Density Surface Modelling for Hotspots	.11		
	2.4	Results	.13		
	2.4.1	Survey Coverage	.13		
	2.4.2	Sighting Conditions	.14		
	2.4.3	Survey Sightings	.17		
	2.4.4	Strip-Transect Density Estimates	.21		
	2.4.5	Ringed Seal Hotspots	.22		
	2.5	Discussion	.26		
	2.5.1	Ringed Seal Densities	.26		
	2.5.2	Ringed Seal Hotspots	.26		
	2.5.3	Advantages of FLIR Surveys	.27		
3.0	2014	RINGED SEAL VISUAL SURVEY	.29		
	3.1	Objectives	.29		
	3.2	Study Area and Design	.29		

	3.3 Ma	aterial and Methods	31		
	3.3.1	Field Methodology	31		
	3.3.2	Data Analysis	31		
	3.3.2.1	Strip-Transect Analysis	31		
	3.3.2.2	Line-Transect Analysis	32		
	3.4 Re	esults	34		
	3.4.1	Survey Coverage	34		
	3.4.2	Sighting Conditions	34		
	3.4.3	Survey Sightings	38		
	3.4.4	Density Estimates	41		
	3.4.4.1	Strip-Transect Densities	41		
	3.4.4.2	Line-Transect Analysis	42		
	3.4.4.2.1	Data Characteristics	42		
	3.4.4.2.2	Line-Transect Densities	44		
	3.5 Dis	scussion	45		
	3.5.1	Strip-Transect Densities	46		
	3.5.2	Line-Transect Densities	47		
4.0	SUMMAF	גץ	48		
5.0	RECOM	MENDATIONS	50		
6.0	CLOSUR	Ε	51		
7.0	REFERENCES				

TABLES

Table 1: Summary of surveys, dates, transects completed, and effort for aerial surveys of ringed seals in the RSA in June 2021.	13
Table 2: Ringed seal density, SE (standard error), and CV (coefficient of variation) from the three surveys flown in 2021.	21
Table 3: Comparison of ringed seal density estimates from FLIR strip-transect analyses for strata within the RSA.	22
Table 4: Spatial density models for the negative binomial distribution	24

Table 5: Summary of surveys, dates, transects completed, and effort for aerial surveys of ringed seals in the RSA in June 2014.	34
Table 6: Ringed seal sightings and number of individuals recorded during aerial surveys in late spring 2014. Includes all on-effort sightings	38
Table 7: Ringed seal density (seals/km²), SE (standard error), and CV (coefficient of variation) from two aerial surveys flown in the study area of 2014.	41
Table 8: Comparison of ringed seal densities from observer strip-transect analyses for strata in the RSA	41
Table 9: Ringed seal density estimates from visual surveys during 2014 aerial surveys.	45
Table 10: Comparison of ringed seal densities	45
Table 11: Ringed seal density and CV from surveys flown in the RSA, during spring of 2007, 2008, 2014,2016, 2017, and 2021. Highest or only density for each year are presented. Text in bold fromcurrent study	48
Table 12: NIRB Project Certificate No. 005 Terms and Conditions relevant to the 2021 RSASP.	50

FIGURES

Figure 1: Marine Mammal Regional Study Area.	2
Figure 2: Geographic strata and transect lines for 2021 ringed seal aerial surveys in Regional Study Area	8
Figure 3: Cloud cover during 2021 RSASP	14
Figure 4: Air temperature during the 2021 RSASP.	15
Figure 5: Wind speed during the 2021 RSASP.	15
Figure 6: Wind direction during the 2021 RSASP.	16
Figure 7: Snow/Ice roughness during the 2021 RSASP.	16
Figure 8: Example of paired aerial images from infrared camera (left) and digital single-lens reflex camera (right) during the 2021 RSASP demonstrating infrared imagery with visual photographs. Inset images show close-up views of the seals in the visual photographs.	17
Figure 9: Distribution of ringed seals and polar bears recorded during Survey 1 on 8–9 June 2021 in the RSA.	18
Figure 10: Distribution of ringed seals recorded during Survey 2 on 10–11 June 2021 in the RSA	19
Figure 11: Distribution of ringed seals recorded during Survey 3 on 12–14 June 2021 in the RSA	20
Figure 12: Histogram showing perpendicular distances of ringed seal observations during Survey 3. Note: Fitted Half-normal key function is shown with right truncation at 125 m. O = probability of detection for each sighting based on the perpendicular distances and wind speed as the covariate. Distances are reversed, with 0 indicating photo edge and 125 m at photo center.	23
Figure 13: Ringed seal density prediction grid.	25
Figure 14: Example of paired aerial images obtained from infrared camera (left) and digital single-lens reflex camera (right) during the 2021 RSASP on 14 June demonstrating the efficiency of infrared imagery with visual photographs in poor visual sighting conditions	27



Figure 15: Example of paired aerial images obtained from infrared camera (left) and digital single-lens reflex camera (right) during the 2021 RSASP on 14 June demonstrating the efficiency of infrared imagery with visual photographs in poor sighting conditions.	28
Figure 16: Geographic strata and transects for 2014 ringed seal aerial surveys	30
Figure 17: Cloud cover during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey	35
Figure 18: Air temperature during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey	35
Figure 19: Melt water presence on ice surface during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey.	36
Figure 20: Snow/Ice roughness during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey.	37
Figure 21: Sightability during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey	37
Figure 22: Distribution of ringed seals, narwhal and polar bears recorded during Survey 1 on 6-7 June 2014.	39
Figure 23: Distribution of ringed seals, narwhal and polar bears recorded during Survey 2 on 8-10 June 2014.	40
Figure 24: Histogram showing perpendicular distances of ringed seal sightings in Eclipse Sound survey grid. Note: Fitted gamma detection function is shown with right truncation at 1,000 m (no left truncation). O = probability of detection for each sighting based on perpendicular distance and other covariates.	43
Figure 25: Distribution of ringed seal sighting distances for Observer 1 and Combined (Observers 1 and 2) in Eclipse Sound survey grid	43
Figure 26: Distribution of ringed seal sighting distances for Observer 2 and Combined (Observers 1 and 2) in Eclipse Sound survey grid	44
Figure 27: Ringed seal density trend over time (2014 to 2021) for FLIR strip-transect (circle symbol) and distance analysis (square symbol). Trend line (dotted line) represent ringed seal density over an eight-year span. ES=Eclipse Sound (orange), MI=Milne Inlet (blue), NB=Navy Board Inlet (grey)	49

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A Density Surface Modelling Diagnostics

APPENDIX B

Distance Sampling and Mark-Recapture Models

APPENDIX C Response to MEWG Comments

Abbreviation and Acronym list

AIC	Akaike's Information Criterion
ASL	Above sea level
Baffinland	Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation
BF	Beaufort Sea State
CV	Coefficient of Variation
DFO	Fisheries and Oceans Canada
DS	Distance Sampling
ERP	Early Revenue Phase
ES	Eclipse Sound stratum
FEIS	Final Environmental Impact Statement
FLIR	Forward-looking Infrared Camera
ft	Feet
Golder	Golder Associates Ltd.
GPS	Global Positioning System
IQ	Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit
km	Kilometres
km ²	square kilometres
km/h	Kilometers per hour
kn	Knots
m	Metre
MCDS	Multiple covariate distance sampling
MEWG	Marine Environmental Working Group
МНТО	Mittimatalik Hunters and Trappers Organization
Milne Port	port at Milne Inlet
MI	Milne Inlet stratum
MMASP	Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program
MMP	Marine Monitoring Program



Mtpa	million tonnes per annum
MMOs	Marine Mammal Observers
MR	Mark-recapture
MRDS	Mark-recapture distance sampling
MSV	Multipurpose support/supply vessel
NB	Navy Board Inlet stratum
NIRB	Nunavut Impact Review Board
Project	Mary River Project
PC	Project Certificate No. 005
RSA	Regional Study Area
RSASP	Ringed Seal Aerial Survey Program
SBO	Ship-based Observer Program
SE	Standard Error
Steenbsy Port	port at Steensby Inlet
TS	Tremblay Sound stratum

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report presents the results of the 2021 Ringed Seal Aerial Survey Program (RSASP) conducted on North Baffin Island during June 2021. Ringed seal aerial surveys were conducted by Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder) using a strip-transect analysis of infrared imagery combined with high-resolution photography. The primary objective of the survey was to document ringed seal density and distribution along the Northern Shipping Route in the Regional Study Area (RSA) and to compare them with 2016 and 2017 results (Young et al. 2019). The secondary objective of the survey was to identify ringed seal hotspots throughout the RSA and identify overlaps with hotspots identified in 2016 and 2017.

Section 3 of this report presents the results of a 2014 ringed seal aerial survey conducted on North Baffin Island during June 2014 by LGL Limited. Raw data were analyzed by Golder using strip-transect and line-transect analysis methods. The objective of analyzing data from the 2014 survey was to update baseline ringed seal density and distribution along the Northern Shipping Route in the RSA.

1.1 Project Background

The Mary River Project (the Project) is an operating open-pit iron ore mine located in the Qikiqtani Region of North Baffin Island, Nunavut (Figure 1). Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation (Baffinland) is the owner and operator of the Project. The operating mine site is connected to a port at Milne Inlet (Milne Port) via the 100 km long Milne Inlet Tote Road. Approved, but undeveloped components of the Project include a South Railway connecting the mine site to a future port at Steensby Inlet (Steensby Port).

To date, Baffinland has been operating in the Early Revenue Phase (ERP) of the Project and is authorized to transport 4.2 Mtpa of ore by truck to Milne Port for shipping through the Northern Shipping Route using chartered ore carrier vessels. A production increase to ship 6.0 Mtpa from Milne Port was approved from 2018 to 2021 and shipping is expected to continue for the life of the Project (20+ years). During the first year of ERP Operations in 2015, Baffinland shipped ~900,000 tonnes of iron ore from Milne Port involving 13 return ore carrier voyages. The amount of ore shipped increased in 2016 with 38 return ore carrier voyages shipping ~2.7 million tonnes. In 2017, the total volume of ore shipped out of Milne Port reached ~4.2 million tonnes involving 56 return ore carrier voyages. Following approval to increase production to 6.0 Mtpa, a total of 5.44 million tonnes of ore were shipped via 71 return voyages in 2018, 5.86 million tonnes of ore were shipped via 81 return voyages in 2019, and 5.5 million tonnes of ore were shipped involving 72 return ore carrier voyages in 2020. The total volume of ore shipped involving 72 return ore carrier voyages in 2020. The total volume of ore shipped out of Milne Port in 2021 reached 5.6 million tonnes involving 74 return ore carrier voyages. The Northern Shipping Route is inhabited by a variety of marine mammals, predominantly narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*), ringed seal (*Pusa hispida*), harp seal (*Pagophilus groenlandicus*), beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*), and walrus (*Odobenus rosmarus*).



1.2 Regulatory Drivers and Community Engagement

In accordance with existing Terms and Conditions of Nunavut Impact Review Board (NIRB) Project Certificate (PC) No. 005, Baffinland is responsible for the establishment and implementation of the Marine Monitoring Plan (MMP) which comprises environmental effects monitoring studies that are conducted over a sufficient time period such to allow for the following objectives:

- To measure the relevant effects of the Project on the marine environment.
- To confirm that the Project is being carried out within the pre-determined terms and conditions relating to the protection of the marine environment.
- To assess the accuracy of the predictions contained in the Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS) for the Project.

The RSASP is one of several monitoring programs that collectively make up the MMP for marine mammals. The RSASP was designed to address PC conditions related to evaluating potential disturbance to ringed seals from shipping activities that may result in changes in animal distribution, abundance, and migratory movements in the RSA. Specifically, this included the following conditions:

- Condition No. 101 "The Proponent shall incorporate into the appropriate monitoring plans the following items:
 - b. Efforts to involve Inuit in monitoring studies at all levels.
 - c. Monitoring protocols that are responsive to Inuit concerns.
 - e. Schedule for periodic aerial surveys as recommended by the Marine Environment Working Group (MEWG)."
- Condition No. 109 "The Proponent shall conduct a monitoring program to confirm the predictions in the FEIS with respect to disturbance effects from ships noise on the distribution and occurrence of marine mammals. The survey shall be designed to address effects during the shipping seasons, and include locations in Hudson Strait and Foxe Basin, Milne Inlet, Eclipse Sound and Pond Inlet. The survey shall continue over a sufficiently lengthy period to determine the extent to which habituation occurs for narwhal, beluga, bowhead and walrus".
- Condition No. 119 "In conjunction with the MEWG, monitor ringed seal birth lair abundance and distribution for at least two years prior to the start of ice-breaking to develop a baseline, with continue monitoring over the life-time of the project."
- Condition No. 126 "The Proponent shall design monitoring programs to ensure that local users of the marine area in communities along the shipping route have opportunity to be engaged throughout the life of the Project in assisting with monitoring and evaluating potential project-induced impacts and changes in marine mammal distributions".

Since 2013, regular community engagement meetings regarding the Project have been carried out in Arctic Bay, Clyde River, Sanirajak, Igloolik, and Pond Inlet. Primary concerns identified by the communities with respect to potential Project effects on marine mammals along the Northern Shipping Route include:

- Loss or alteration of narwhal and ringed seal habitat due to port construction and shipping.
- Injuries or mortality of marine mammals due to ship strikes.
- Acoustic disturbance effects on marine mammals from port construction and shipping that may lead to changes in animal distribution, abundance, migration patterns, and subsequent availability of these animals for harvesting.

Baffinland was provided feedback from Inuit hunters that indicated they have observed localized changes in seal abundance and distribution in the RSA, which was resulting in carry-over effects on seal harvesting. In response to this feedback, Baffinland committed to undertaking targeted ringed seal monitoring along the Northern Shipping Route in 2021. The 2021 RSASP was also undertaken to address residual uncertainty regarding the impact predictions related to the potential effects of shipping and icebreaking on ringed seal associated with Baffinland's Phase 2 Proposal.

1.3 Ringed Seal Background

Population structures of ringed seal across the Canadian Arctic are poorly understood. The ringed seal population in Canada and adjacent waters (West Greenland, Alaska, and Russia) is estimated at 2.3 million seals (COSEWIC 2019). Finley et al. (1983) estimated the Baffin Bay region (Canada and Greenland) to have approximately 787,000 ringed seals. Kingsley (1998) estimated the size of the Baffin Bay ringed seal population using two methods, one based on polar bear energetic models and another using published density data and estimates of ice areas. The polar bear model yielded a ringed seal population estimate of 1.2 million. The estimate based on sea ice type and availability was of 697,200 hauled out ringed seals, thus yielding a similar population estimate as the polar bear predation model (1.2 million seals) (Kingsley 1998).

Based on best available science (McLaren 1958; Smith and Stirling 1975; Smith and Hammill 1981; Smith 1987; Hammill et al. 1991; Lyderson 1995; Kelly et al. 2010; Chambellant et al. 2012a), the breeding season for ringed seal, which includes pupping, nursing and mating, occurs in the Eastern High Arctic between the months of March and May, with mating occurring towards the end of the nursing period and preceding the annual molt in June, when ringed seals haul out on ice to bask in the sun (McLaren 1958; Smith 1973a). Furgal et al. (2002) further indicated pupping occurred from late March until early April, when females inhabit haul-out lairs and birth white-coated pups (McLaren 1958; Smith & Stirling 1975; Kingsley 1990; Smith & Hammill 1981).

Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit (IQ) reported in JPCS (2017) and ERM (2019) indicated that the seal pupping season runs from February to March, and as late as the middle of April and May, throughout the RSA. Additionally, IQ recorded in QIA (2019) provided additional knowledge regarding the areas in which seal pupping takes place. Following is a summary of IQ from these resources:

"...seal hunting also continues in Ukiuq and seal pupping will last into March. Ringed seal pups are preferred by local Inuit and are harvested throughout Eclipse Sound." - p. 32, JPCS 2017.

"Starting in March the seal pups are born. March and June are the most important months. In the past, it didn't used to be until April that the seals were born. Just to the west of us now, they are catching pups. March and June are the months I'm worried about. Most able men go out still, even if it's just occasionally." – Workshop #2 Participant, 27-29 April 2015, p. 48, JCPS 2017.

"There are seal pups in the area until the middle of April." - Elijah, 27-29 April 2015, p.165, JCPS 2017.

"There are no certain areas for seal pups; they are born everywhere. Even along the routes we travel. That is something that needs to be monitored." - Paniloo, 27-29 April 2015, p. 171, JPCS 2017.

"We have to give consideration to seals when they start giving birth in April and May. In May, they are quite large and some seal pups..." – Elijah, 27-29 April 2015, p. 178, JPCS 2017.

"The baby seals breed in March..." Sakiasee, 27-29 April 2015, p. 217, JPCS 2017.

"In the spring (March to May), seal pups are very small and vulnerable..." – Workshop #3 Participant, p. 17, ERM 2019).

"...So the seals come in to the Eclipse Sound to feed and mate. So, they come in from offshore, and he says in March they start coming in to this area, March, April, May and they'll just keep going in to the sounds." – Participant 11, 05 February 2019, p. 43, QIA 2019.

"...Also, regular movement of the seals around here all the time, and moving up there, especially in Eclipse Sound Area they, which is part of the, those inlets, Milne and Tremblay Sound at almost every inlet these are seal calving areas. When the ice break up in the middle of the summertime, the young ones are starting to go out through the inlets, some stay there all year round..." – Participant 10, 06 February 2019, p. 45, QIA 2019.

Pups are weaned after a six-week lactation period (Hammill et al. 1991). Mating occurs in the water underneath the ice around the time pups are weaned, during periods when females temporarily leave their den and enter the water (Lydersen1995; Smith 1987). If mating is successful, this is time when the egg becomes fertilized. Ringed seals have a gestation of 10–11 months, which includes the 2–3 months of suspended development (Hammill and Smith 1989; McLaren 1958; Smith 1987).

The timing of ringed seal aerial surveys was selected to overlap with the peak basking period in late May to early June (Smith and Hammill 1981), when more ringed seals are available for detection on the ice, and before an influx of ringed seals from the pack ice which generally occurs in the later part of June (Smith and Hammill 1981). In June, during the peak basking period, ringed seals spend over 60% of the time on the ice (Kelly et al. 2010). By July, the time out of the water drops to 30% as basking is completed and the foraging period begins (Kelly et al. 2010). Hunters in Arctic Bay use hunting methods to stalk basking and moulting seals in late spring, when ringed seals are hauled-out at breathing holes, leads and ice edges (McLaren 1958; Smith 1973b; Finley 1979 *in* Furgal et al. 2002).

IQ reported in JCPS (2017), and QIA (2019) indicated springtime as the peak basking period for ringed seals:

"Seal harvesting occurs throughout Eclipse Sound at breathing holes, while seals are basking on the ice, and in leads, although not regularly during Upirngaaq (Arctic spring, roughly June)" – General Summary of workshop responses, p.29, JSPC 2017.

"I would catch enough to cache [hunted seal or narwhal] for the winter. It would mainly be in the spring as this area is teeming with seals basking in the sun during springtime. There would be enough seal here to cache for the winter." – Ipeelie Koonoo of Arctic Bay, as reported in Baffinland Iron Ore Corporation (2012, p. 25), p.29, QIA 2019.

1.3.1 Previous Ringed Seal Surveys

Aerial surveys of ringed seal in the RSA have been undertaken during the basking/molting period (spring) when ringed seal were mainly on the sea ice and easy to count (Baffinland 2012, Yurkowski et al. 2018, Young et al. 2019). Ringed seal aerial surveys were first flown in the RSA in June 2006, 2007 and 2008 to characterize marine mammal baseline conditions (density and distribution) in support of the Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS; Baffinland 2012). Visual observer data using strip-transect methodology was analyzed for these surveys. The 2006 survey was exploratory in nature covering Milne Inlet, Eclipse Sound and Navy Board Inlet with low survey coverage. Surveys flown in 2007 and 2008 focused on Milne Inlet. Subsequent aerial surveys were flown in 2014 to update baseline data on ringed seal density and distribution. Survey effort in 2014 focused on Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet, where observer-based sightings data was collected. Aerial surveys were conducted in June 2016 and 2017 by DFO to assess the spring distribution and density of ringed seal in the Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet areas (Young et al. 2019). Young et al. (2019) used three different survey methods (visual observer with strip-transect methodology, overlayed infrared and photographic data with strip-transect methodology, and visual observer combined with overlayed infrared and photographic data with distance methodology) to determine ringed seal densities in the RSA. The three methods resulted in different density estimates with the distance methodology and infrared/photographic strip-transect methods providing similar results that were approximately 2-3 times greater than the visual observer strip-transect analyses. Young et al. (2019) concluded that striptransect analysis of infrared imagery combined with photographs was the preferred method because it did not require collection of observer-based sightings data from the aircraft (i.e., fewer personnel required), it allowed for a high probability of animal detection, it was associated with a lower visibility bias, and it allowed for simplified data processing and density calculations. Their results provided density estimates ranging from 0.57 to 0.79 seals/km² for Eclipse Sound, 0.93 to 1.27 seals/km² for Milne Inlet, and 0.27 to 0.77 seals/km² for Navy Board Inlet.

2.0 2021 RINGED SEAL FORWARD-LOOKING INFRARED SURVEY2.1 Objectives

The RSASP was conducted by Golder in the North Baffin area during June 2021. The primary objective of the survey was to document ringed seal density and distribution along the Northern Shipping Route in the Regional Study Area (RSA) and to compare them with 2016 and 2017 results (Young et al. 2019). Yurkowski et al. (2018) noted several ringed seal hotspots throughout the RSA during the June spring molt. A secondary objective of the survey was to identify ringed seal hotspots throughout the RSA and identify overlaps with hotspots identified in 2016 and 2017.

2.2 Study Area and Design

The 2021 aerial surveys took place over a two-week period with flights occurring between 8–14 June 2021. The survey team consisted of one Golder biologist and one contracted marine biologist with previous marine mammal survey experience, two pilots, and one mechanic. Due to COVID-19 restrictions in Nunavut, no Inuit researchers from local communities were able to participate in the 2021 survey.

The study area for the RSASP was based on the boundaries used Young et al.'s (2019) 2016 and 2017 surveys. The aerial surveys were designed to characterize ringed seal distribution and density in the RSA during the period when ringed seals were hauled out on the ice during the peak moulting period and to allow for comparison with past surveys. Aerial surveys were conducted in four strata within the RSA: Eclipse Sound (ES), Milne Inlet (MI), Tremblay Sound (TS), and Navy Board Inlet (NB; Figure 2).





	D						
8200000							
820000	COMMU	NITY					
°	MILNE P	ORT					
	MILNE I	NLET TOTE ROAD)				
	TRANSE	CT					
	TRANSE	CT REMOVED					
	40 km Bl	JFFER ZONE					
121	BOUND	ARY	AREA				
	WATERE	BODY					
GEOGR	PHIC STR	ATA					
	ECLIPSE	SOUND					
	MILNE I	NLET					
	NAVY BO	JARD INLET					
	TREMBL	AY SOUND					
0000							
810							
		0		25		50	
			_	20			
		1:1,000,000			KILOMET	RES	
REFERI MILNE F PIESOL PLACE, NATURA PROJEC	ENCE(S) PORT INFF .D LTD. FU AND PRO AL RESOU CTION: UT	RASTRUCTURE E LCRUM DATA MA VINCIAL BOUNDA IRCES CANADA M ZONE 17 DAT	OATA BY HAT NAGEMENT ARY DATA O ALL RIGHTS TUM: NAD 83	ICH, JANUARY I SITE MAY 19, BTAINED FROI RESERVED.	⁷ 25, 2017, F 2017. HYD M GEOGRA	(ETRIEVED FR ROGRAPHY, PC ITIS, © DEPART	OM KNIGHT OPULATED MENT OF
CLIENT	INLAN			RPORATIC	DN		
_s BAFF							
BAFF	or Y RIVE		F				
BAFF PROJEC MAR	RINGE	E PROJECT	I <u>RIA</u> L SU	RVEYS			
BAFF PROJEC MAR 2021 TITLE GEOC	RINGE	IC STRATA	I RIAL SU AND TI	RVEYS	SFOR	2021 RING	iED
BAFF PROJECT MARY 2021 TITLE GEOC SEAL CONSU	RINGE	R PROJECT ED SEAL AE HIC STRATA AL SURVEY	I RIAL SU A AND TI S	RVEYS RANSECT	S FOR :	2021 RING	iED
BAFF PROJECT MAR` 2021 TITLE GEOO SEAL CONSU		HIC STRATA	AND TI	RVEYS RANSECT	S FOR :	2021 RING	iED
BAFF PROJEC MAR` 2021 TITLE GEOO SEAL CONSU		GOLC	AND TI	RVEYS RANSECT	S FOR :	2021 RING 2022-06-21 TT AJA	iED
BAFF PROJEC MAR` 2021 TITLE GEOO SEAL CONSU		GOLE MEMBER OF		RVEYS RANSECT VYYY-MM-D DESIGNED PREPARED REVIEWED APDPOVED	S FOR :	2021 RING 2022-06-21 TT AJA TT PA	ED
BAFF PROJEC MARX 2021 TITLE GEOO SEAL CONSU		GOLE MEMBER OF	AND TI	RVEYS RANSECT DESIGNED PREPARED REVIEWED APPROVED	B FOR 2	2021 RING 2022-06-21 TT AJA TT PA	ED

Survey design and data collection methodology followed the preferred method identified by Young et al. (2019), using the strip-transect analysis of infrared imagery, coupled with digital photographs. Surveys were flown during June 2021 using a de Havilland Twin Otter (DHC-6) fixed-wing aircraft equipped with a ventral camera port. Surveys planned for ES, MI, TS, and NB consisted of 36, 13, 2, and 23 transects, respectively (Figure 2).

2.2.1 Survey Adaptations

Transects in the southern portion of MI strata were adapted from 22 zigzag transects flown by DFO in 2016 and 2017 to nine parallel transects. This adaptation was made because zigzag transects are difficult for pilots to maintain in high terrain, and can result in a significant amount of aircraft banking (i.e., turning) which then has to be removed from the survey effort calculations. The sharp turns required for zigzag transects in a high terrain area also increases the noise produced by the aircraft in an area not yet surveyed, increasing the potential for seals to react to the aircraft and dive into holes prior to being counted.

Four to six transects on the eastern end of the ES stratum (Figure 2) were not flown at the request of the Mittimatalik Hunters & Trappers Organization (MHTO) to avoid potential interference with the community harvesters along the Pond Inlet floe edge.

2.3 Material and Methods

2.3.1 Field Methodology

Field methodology followed data collection for strip-transect analysis of infrared imagery combined with digital photographs identified as the preferred method for ringed seal surveys by Young et al. (2019). Transects were flown at a target ground speed of 204 km/hour (110 knots) and a target altitude of 305 m (1,000 ft). A Bluetooth GPS unit and iPad was used to track the aircraft location and record its position, altitude, speed, and heading every second during the survey using specialized navigational mapping software (Foreflight) pre-programmed with the survey transect grid.

A data recorder entered environmental conditions into Mysticetus software at the beginning and end of each transect, and when changes in conditions occurred along an active transect. Environmental conditions included cloud cover (percent), surface air temperature (°C), surface wind speed (km/h), surface wind direction (N, S, E, W), ice cover (in tenths), ice type, snow/ice roughness (percent), fog cover (in tenths), and fog intensity. Air temperature and wind variables were obtained from Windy.com ECMWF (European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts) model of the surface conditions either during (depending on cellular coverage) or after the flight. Snow/ice roughness was subjectively estimated based on the percent of snow drift or ice ridges that covered the surface of the ice (i.e., 0% snow/ice roughness represents a smooth ice surface with no snow drifts or ice ridges, whereas a 50% roughness represents an ice surface with 50% of it covered in snow drifts and/or ice ridges).

Thermal infrared imagery was obtained using a forward-looking infrared camera (FLIR T1020) with a 45° lens. At the target altitude of 305 m, the strip width covered by the FLIR imagery was approximately 250 m wide strip directly below the aircraft. The FLIR T1020 used an uncooled microbolometer type sensor with a resolution of 1,024 x 768 pixels and detected infrared radiation in the range of 7.5–14 μ m. The FLIR camera was connected to a laptop and controlled remotely by a camera operator using FLIR ResearchIR Max software version 4.40.11.35 (FLIR Systems, Inc., Wilsonville, OR, USA).

Visible light (visual) photographs were obtained using a Canon EOS 5DS R DSLR (digital single-lens reflex) camera fitted with a 35 mm lens (Sigma 35 mm f/1.4 DG HSM). Visual photographs were taken at an interval of two seconds, providing approximately 30% overlap between consecutive photos. At the target altitude of 305 m, the strip width covered by the DSLR camera was 313 m wide strip directly below the aircraft. Visual photographs taken with the Canon EOS 5DS R were captured in .jpg format at the maximum camera resolution setting of 8,688 x 5,792 pixels. The DSLR camera was connected to a laptop and controlled remotely by a camera operator using Breeze Multi-Camera Array software version v2.1.2 (Breeze Systems limited., Camberley, Surrey, UK).

2.3.2 Data Analysis

2.3.2.1 Strip-Transect Analysis for Densities

A single analyst from a third party (Whale Seeker Inc.) analyzed the infrared video files using FLIR ResearchIR Max software version 4.40.11.35 (FLIR Systems, Inc., Wilsonville, OR, USA). This software allowed the user to view FLIR infrared video files and provided tools to visually identify temperature spikes indicative of potential seals.

All potential seals observed in the infrared imagery were verified by viewing the corresponding visual images obtained from the Canon DSLR camera. Through this verification process, only visual photographs that corresponded to potential seals in the infrared imagery were included in the analysis. A random set of transect was extracted from the database and reanalyzed by a secondary analyst as quality control (QC). During this QC process, resigning and sightings outside the FLIR field of view were identified which should have been removed or flagged by the primary analyst. A second review of the FLIR video and digital images flagged these sightings and removed them from the analysis.

To assess the success rate of the infrared camera, an experienced observer analyzed a random set of 1,172 visual photographs from the 2021 dataset. Seals identified in the visual photographs were compared with the results of the infrared imagery analysis to determine whether the infrared method was missing seals that could be seen in the visual photographs.

Strip-transect analysis was performed on "infrared" data obtained from infrared imagery within a 250 m wide strip following the methods of Young et al. (2015) and Chambellant et al. (2012b). The density of ringed seals per km² was estimated following Buckland et al. (2001) by computing the number of detected seals over the surveyed strip area:

$$\widehat{D} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i / \omega \sum_{i=1}^{k} l_i$$

Where k is the number of transects flown, n_i is the number of ringed seals counted on the i^{th} transect, ω is the width of the strip, and l_i is the length of the i^{th} transect.

Following Kingsley and Smith (1981), the variance of density, was determined by:

$$\sigma^{2}(\widehat{D}) = k \times \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{k-1} (d_{i} - d_{i+1})^{2}}{2(k-1) \times (\omega \sum_{i=1}^{k} l_{i})^{2}}$$

where

$$d_i = n_i - \widehat{D} \times \omega l_i$$



The coefficient of variation (CV) of the estimated density was calculated by dividing the square root of the variance by the estimated density.

2.3.2.2 Density Surface Modelling for Hotspots

A density surface modelling (DSM) framework was used to model spatially-referenced count data with the additional environmental data and distances collected to account for imperfect detection. Modelling proceeded in two steps. First, a multiple covariate distance sampling (MCDS) detection function was fitted to the perpendicular distance data to obtain detection probabilities for individuals. Second, counts were then summarised per segment (contiguous transect sections), and a generalised additive model (GAM, Wood 2006) was then constructed with the per-segment counts as the response. GAMs provided a flexible class of models that included generalized linear models but extend them with the possible addition of splines to create smooth functions of covariates. DSM modelling was performed within the R software environment using the dsm, mgcv and Distance packages (Miller et al. 2021; Wood 2021; Miller 2021).

Ideally, the maximum segment length is such that neither the density of objects nor covariate values varied appreciably within segments. Bathymetry data, that informed the majority of model covariates, did not have uniform precision across the study area. The resolution of bathymetry grids varied between study area regions: Assomption Harbour, 5 m; Milne Inlet and western Eclipse Sound, 20 m; and Eastern Eclipse Sound and Navy Board Inlet, 500 m. A segment length of 1 km was selected to minimize potential bias associated with the varying precision of bathymetry data, that would be magnified by smaller segments. For each segment, the following multiple static environmental covariates were extracted: latitude, longitude, distance from the nearest shore, mean depth, mean slope, distance from Pond Inlet floe edge and distance from Navy Board Sound floe edge. Additional segment covariates of maximum and minimum depth were also extracted from the bathymetry. The segment centroid was used for determining latitude, longitude and distance calculations, while bathymetry data was extracted from a 500 m buffer on the transect segment to capture sufficient bathymetry data points (larger than the model truncation distance). The manipulation and measurement of spatial data was performed with ESRI ArcMap 10.7.1 ArcInfo license with the Spatial Analyst toolbox (ESRI 2019). A Lambert conformal conic projection, with origin centered on the project area, was used to ensure that distance measurements were uniform across the study area. Floe edge locations were estimated using satellite imagery (Zoom Earth 2021) and digitized for inclusion in the spatial data. The Pond Inlet and Navy Board Inlet floe edges did not noticeably change during the survey period. Count per segment was then modelled as a sum of smooth functions of covariates (e.g., location, depth, distance to shore, measured at the segment level) using a GAM. Smooth functions were modelled as splines, providing flexible curves and surfaces to describe the relationship between the covariates and the response.

To predict across the study area with the fitted model, a 1 km square prediction grid was created in ArcMap and the cells were clipped to the coastline and floe edges. Grid cell areas were calculated to be used as the offset value during prediction. Environmental covariates were extracted using the same methodology as completed for the segments.

Detection Function

The DSM methodology involved two separate statistical models. The first statistical model was a fitted detection function to the perpendicular sighting distances, as in a conventional distance-sampling analysis, to estimate the detection probability. Normally this model compensates for observer bias but this isn't expected to be an issue with imagery data. Alternatively, this model is used to compensate for availability bias, whereby the species of interest changes its surface availability depending on environmental covariates. The expectation is that ringed seals will dive depending on the proximity of the aircraft and will vary the distance at which they dive depending on covariates that could alter their ability to detect the aircraft. Environmental variables that may affect the seal's ability to detect the aircraft (wind speed, aircraft travel direction and travel direction relative to wind direction) were incorporated as covariates (Marques et al. 2007). The best detection function model was selected based on Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) values.

Spatial Model Fitting

The second statistical model was a spatial density component. The abundance of ringed seals seen in each segment was described by a GAM via a Horvitz-Thompson estimator with segment effort indicated by the area of each segment (length by a width twice that of the detection function truncation distance). Problems can occur when smoothing over areas with complicated geography (e.g., peninsulas or islands) where the proximity of counts on one side of a feature would unrealistically influence the model's interpretation of counts on the other side of the feature. Therefore, a "soap film" smoother (Wood et al. 2008) was fitted to the spatial data, which usually performs better for complex study regions by reducing smoothing of density contours across land boundaries and minimizing edge effects. The soap film is a bivariate smooth of spatial coordinates that require a grid of "soap knots" within the study area. Various densities of "soap knots" are trialed to assess performance of the smoother and assess overfitting of the data. Over fitting the soap film smoother can result in unrealistic hotspots and account for more of the variance in the data that could otherwise have been accounted for by environmental covariates.

Global models were initially run with all possible covariates treated as penalized thin plate regression spline smoothers. Three global models were run for each distribution family, each using only one of the depth variables (mean, maximum or minimum values) to avoid issues of covariation between these depth variables. This "shrinkage" approach (Marra and Wood 2011) minimized stepwise model term selection, reducing the problem of path dependence when dropping covariates for model selection. Covariates with smooth significances with $p \le 0.05$ were retained for modelling and evaluation. Plots of the GAM smooth functions and their associated standard error bounds were also examined, as these also contained information that could support the decision to either drop or retain a covariate term. The relative magnitudes of each smoother's basis size (k) and its resulting effective degrees of freed (edf) value were examined for the presence of unrealistically high values that could indicate over-fitting and to also ensure that smooth functions were given sufficient freedom to describe the underlying covariate relationship (k was then adjusted accordingly as necessary). Smoothing parameter estimates were optimized using restricted maximum likelihood (REML). To address zero-inflation, which is a common cause of overdispersion in count data, candidate models were fit with negative binomial or Tweedie response distributions in addition to the quasi-Poisson distribution.

Model Selection and Validation

For each response distribution family, AIC values were used to select the best fit models from the candidates. The top candidate models from the different response distributions were then assessed using quantile-quantile (QQ) plots that included reference bands produced by repeated simulations of new response data from the fitted model. Departure of the residuals from the bounds of the reference bands indicate a misspecification of the model (see Augustin et al. 2012) and thus can be used to assess fit and eliminate a model from the candidate set (i.e. incorrect distribution family used).

It was assumed that the modelled detection function was independent of the GAM, with the total variance of the abundance estimated using the delta method (Seber 1982) to combine the detection model and spatial component variances (Hedley & Buckland 2004).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Survey Coverage

Three surveys were completed between 8–14 June 2021 (Table 1). Over the course of the three surveys, a total of 4,351.6 km of survey effort was conducted. All survey effort was flown over 10/10 landfast ice coverage. Surveys were flown between 08:00 and 18:00 whenever weather conditions allowed. Four transects (during Surveys 1 and 2) and six transects (during Survey 3) on the eastern end of the ES strata were removed at the request of the MHTO to avoid potential interference with the community harvesters along the Pond Inlet floe edge. This allowed a buffer of 4 km (with 4 transects removed) to 13 km (with 6 transects removed) from the Pond Inlet floe edge. During Survey 2, poor weather conditions prevented six of the planned transects from being completed in the NB stratum (Table 1).

Date	Survey #	Strataª	Transects (completed/planned)	Effort (km)	
8 June 2021	1	ES	32/36	810.0	
8 June 2021	1	1 TS 2/2		86.6	
8/9 June 2021	1	MI	13/13	284.4	
9 June 2021	1	NB	23/23	322.8	
Subtotal	1	—	70/74	1,503.8	
10 June 2021	2	ES	32/36	799.1	
10 June 2021	2	TS	2/2	88.0	
10/11 June 2021	2	MI	13/13	287.4	
11 June 2021	June 2021 2 NB		17/23	200.4	
Subtotal	2	—	64/74	1,374.9	
12 June 2021	3	ES	30/36	762.5	
12/14 June 2021	3	MI	13/13	283.5	
14 June 2021	3	TS	2/2	88.0	
14 June 2021	3	NB	23/23	338.8	
Subtotal	3	—	68/74	1,472.8	

Table 1: Summary of surveys, dates, transects completed, and effort for aerial surveys of ringed seals in the RSA in June 2021.

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet, TS=Tremblay Sound, NB=Navy Board Inlet



2.4.2 Sighting Conditions

Environmental sighting conditions were recorded during the surveys at the beginning and end of each transect and when conditions changed along the track. All sighting conditions were recorded within the 250 m strip below the aircraft. Sighting conditions were evaluated based on survey effort when each condition was observed. For calculating hotspots, density surface modelling analyses used the sighting conditions as covariates in the model.

Cloud Cover

Cloud cover during the 2021 RSASP ranged from 0 to 100%. During Survey 1 conditions ranged from 0 to 10% with the majority (93%) of the survey effort flown in 0% cloud cover (Figure 3). Cloud cover conditions during Survey 2 ranged from 0 to 50% with the majority (99%) of the survey effort flown in 0% cloud cover (Figure 3). During Survey 3 conditions ranged from 0 to 100% with the majority (67%) of the survey effort flown in 0% cloud cover (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Cloud cover during 2021 RSASP.

Air Temperature

Ground air temperatures during the 2021 RSASP ranged from 0 to 7°C (Figure 4). During Survey 1 conditions ranged from 0 to 5°C with a mean air temperature of 2.6°C. Air temperature conditions during Survey 2 ranged from 0 to 7°C with a mean air temperature of 3.3°C. During Survey 3 conditions ranged from 1 to 7°C with a mean air temperature of 4.1°C.





Figure 4: Air temperature during the 2021 RSASP.

Wind Speed

Ground wind speeds ranged from 0 to 28 km/h during the 2021 RSASP. During Survey 1 conditions ranged from 0 to 28 km/h with a mean wind speed of 4.7 km/h. The majority (91%) of the survey effort flown in Survey 1 was in 0 to 10 km/h conditions (Figure 5). Wind speed conditions during Survey 2 ranged from 0 to 22 km/h with a mean wind speed of 7.1 km/h. The majority (81%) of the survey effort flown during Survey 2 was in 0 to 10 km/h conditions (Figure 5). During Survey 3 conditions ranged from 0 to 23 km/h with a mean wind speed of 7.0 km/h. The majority (74%) of the survey effort flown in 0 to 10 km/h conditions (Figure 5).





Wind Direction

Wind direction varied considerable during the 2021 RSASP due to the high terrain and the large study area. During Surveys 1 and 2 the majority (68% and 72%, respectively) of the survey effort was flown in areas with westerly wind directions (SW, W, and NW; Figure 6). During Survey 3 the majority (55%) of the survey effort was flown in areas with northerly wind directions (NW, N, and NE; Figure 6).





Snow/Ice Roughness

Snow/ice roughness during the 2021 RSASP ranged from 0 to 50%. A 0% roughness represents a smooth ice surface with no snow drifts or ice ridges, whereas a 50% roughness represents an ice surface with 50% of it covered in snow drifts and/or ice ridges. During Survey 1 conditions ranged from 20% to 50% roughness with the majority (81%) of the survey effort flown over 30% snow/ice roughness (Figure 7). During Survey 2 conditions ranged from 10% to 50% roughness with the majority (79%) of the survey effort flown over 20% and 30% snow/ice roughness (Figure 7). During Survey 3 conditions ranged from 0% to 30% roughness with the majority (65%) of the survey effort flown over 10% snow/ice roughness (Figure 7).



Snow/Ice Roughness

Figure 7: Snow/Ice roughness during the 2021 RSASP.

2.4.3 Survey Sightings

A total of 1,029 potential animal observations were identified during analysis of the infrared imagery. Of these potential observations, 987 (96%) were confirmed to be animals while 42 (4%) could not be confirmed. Figure 8 shows how infrared imagery matches up with the digital photographs for confirming observations. The 987 confirmed observations consisted of 1,229 ringed seals (986 observations) and one polar bear. The 42 potential animal observations that could not be confirmed as animals were likely warmer areas on the ice created by a combination of melt ponds, rocks, dirt, debris, or garbage.



Figure 8: Example of paired aerial images from infrared camera (left) and digital single-lens reflex camera (right) during the 2021 RSASP demonstrating infrared imagery with visual photographs. Inset images show close-up views of the seals in the visual photographs.

Ringed seals were observed throughout the survey area during the three surveys (Figures 9–11). Ringed seal group sizes ranged from single animals to a group size of five, with mean and median group sizes of 1.2 and 1.0, respectively. Forty-one ringed seal pups were observed during the surveys. During Survey 1, 19 ringed seal pups were observed in ES, MI, and NB strata. Fourteen ringed seal pups were observed during Survey 3 in ES, MI, and TS strata.

In the analysis of a random set of 1,172 visual photographs to assess the success rate of the infrared camera data, 21 ringed seal observations were detected in both the infrared method and the independent analysis of the visual photographs, five seal observations were detected in the infrared method but missed in the independent analysis of the visual photographs, and five seal observations were detected in the infrared method but missed in the independent analysis of the visual photographs but missed in the infrared method. The five seal observations that were missed in the infrared method were outside of the field of view (250 m) of the FLIR and thus expected to be missed and would not have been captured in the data analysis. Of the 26 seal observations within the FLIR field of view, the infrared method was 100% (26 out of 26 available sightings) effective in detecting seal observations, and the independent analysis of the visual photographs was 81% (21 out of 26 available sightings) effective in detecting seal observations.



LEGEND				
COMMUNITY		- AERIAL SUR	VEY TRACK	
🕄 🔂 MILNE PORT			T TOTE ROAD	
	\sim	40 km BUFF	ER ZONE	
OBSERVATIONS (GROUP SIZE)	. –	NUNAVUT S	ETTLEMENT AREA	
POLAR BEAR	1 - L-	BOUNDARY		
■ 1		WATERBOD	Y	
RINGED SEAL				
• 1				
2-5				
5				
0	25	5	50	
0	25	5	50	
0	25	; KILI	50 DMETRES	
0 1:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S)		5 KILI		2011/2
0 1:1,000,00 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI	25 0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI	5 KILI I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017	50 DMETRES	ROM KN OPULA
0 1:1,000,00 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI VDARY DATA OBT/ A. ALL RIGHTS RE	KILI I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED.	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA TMENT
0 1:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PISSOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD. PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 D	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI INDARY DATA OBT. A. ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83	KILI I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED.	50 OMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA TMENT
0 1:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PIACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 D CLIENT BAFEINI AND IRON M	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT 5 A ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83 INFS CORP	KILI I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED.	50 OMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KNI OPULA TMENT
0 1:1,000,007 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 D CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI NDARY DATA OBT/ A. ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP	KIL I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION	50 OMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	XOM KNI OPULA ^X TMENT
0 1:1,000,007 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 D CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI NDARY DATA OBT A. ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP	5 I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION	50 OMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA TMENT
0 TI:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD. PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 D CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI NDARY DATA OBT A ALL RIGHTS RE AATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP	S I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA TMENT
0 TI:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD PROJECT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJEC 2021 RIVER DEAL A	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI VDARY DATA OBT JATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP CT LERIAL SUR	5 I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA' TMENT
0 TI:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUM NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 D CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJEC 2021 RINGED SEAL A TITLE DISTRIBUTION OF D	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OT VDARY	5 I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE ISERVED. ORATION VEYS	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA' TMENT
0 TI:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 D CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJEC 2021 RINGED SEAL A TITLE DISTRIBUTION OF RI RECORDED DURING	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA OBT VDARY DATA NA ALL RIGHTS RE VALUES CORP CT VERIAL SURV SURVEY 1	5 I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION VEYS -S AND PO ON 8-9 JUN	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA TMENT
0 TI:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PISSOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 D CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJEC 2021 RINGED SEAL A TITLE DISTRIBUTION OF RI RECORDED DURING CONSULTANT	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI VDARY DATA OBTI A. ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP CT CT LERIAL SURV INGED SEAL SURVEY 1 (KILI I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION /EYS _S AND PO ON 8-9 JUN	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR OGRATIS, © DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA' TMENT
0 TI:1,000,000 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PISOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUN NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD PROJECT TOM DESTRIBUTION OF RI AND PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT TITLE DISTRIBUTION OF RI RECORDED DURING CONSULTANT	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI NDARY DATA OBTI A. ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP CT LERIAL SURV INGED SEAL SURVEY 1	KILI I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION /EYS _S AND PO ON 8-9 JUN /YYY-MM-DD DESIGNED	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF .HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, @ DEPAR OGRATIS, @ DEPAR	ROM KN OPULA' TMENT
0 1:1,000,007 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PISSOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL BOUM NATURAL RESOURCES CANAD PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT	26 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI VDARY DATA OBT/ A ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP CT LERIAL SURV INGED SEAI SURVEY 1 CT LERIAL SURV INGED SEAI SURVEY 1 CT	KILI I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION VEYS -S AND PO ON 8-9 JUN YYY-MM-DD DESIGNED REPARED	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR DEPAR LAR BEARS IE 2021 2022-06-21 TT A IA	ROM KN OPULA TMENT
CONSULTANT	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI VDARY DATA OBT/ A ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP CT SERIAL SURV INGED SEAI SURVEY 1	KILI I, JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE ISERVED. ORATION VEYS S AND PO ON 8-9 JUN YYY-MM-DD DESIGNED REPARED DEVIEWED	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, © DEPAR USCOMPTION DEPAR DE DEPAR DE DEPAR DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE	ROM KN OPULA TMENT
TI:1,000,00 TI:1,000,00 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTURI PISSOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATAI PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJECT TITLE DISTRIBUTION OF RI RECORDED DURING CONSULTANT CONSULTANT	0 E DATA BY HATCH MANAGEMENT SI VDARY DATA OBT/ A. ALL RIGHTS RE DATUM: NAD 83 IINES CORP CT LERIAL SURV INGED SEAI SURVEY 1 DER DER	KILI , JANUARY 25, 2 TE MAY 19, 2017 AINED FROM GE SERVED. ORATION VEYS S AND PO ON 8-9 JUN YYY-MM-DD DESIGNED REPARED REVIEWED	50 DMETRES 017, RETRIEVED FF. HYDROGRAPHY, P OGRATIS, @ DEPAR USCOMPTION DEPAR DE DEPAR DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE DE	ROM KN OPULA' TMENT

35..... IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SI



JEAN IN THE SHEET SIZE I



2.4.4 Strip-Transect Density Estimates

A summary of ringed seal densities for each survey and strata is presented in (Table 2). Ringed seals had the highest density in the Milne Inlet stratum during Survey 3 (2.84 seals/km²) and the lowest density in the Eclipse Sound stratum during Survey 1 (0.55 seals/km²). Densities also varied within strata, with Survey 1 generally having the lower densities compared to Surveys 2 and 3 (Table 2). During Survey 2, poor sighting conditions in Navy Board Inlet prevented approximately 40% of the transect effort from being surveyed in that stratum. The transects that were flown were in areas that had higher numbers of seals on previous surveys. Therefore, the density of 1.36 seals/km² in the Navy Board Inlet stratum during Survey 2 is likely an overestimate and was not considered in the subsequent analyses. Survey 3 represented the survey with the highest ringed seal densities (1.04 seals/km² in ES, 2.84 seals/km² in MI, 1.27 seals/km² in TS, and 0.83 seals/km² in NB).

flown in 2021							-
Survey #	Stratum ^a	Ringed Seal Observations	Ringed Seal	Density (seals/km²)	SE	сѵ	Coverage %

Table 2: Ringed seal density, SE (standard error), and CV (coefficient of variation) from the three surveys

Survey #	Stratum ^a	Observations	Seal # Animals	(seals/km ²)	SE	CV	Coverage %
1	ES	79	111	0.55	0.09	0.16	5.5
2	ES	156	195	0.98	0.10	0.10	5.4
3	ES	160	199	1.04	0.08	0.08	5.4
1	MI	105	138	1.94	0.35	0.18	7.5
2	MI	108	125	1.74	0.21	0.12	7.5
3	MI	171	201	2.84	0.42	0.15	7.4
1	TS	17	18	0.83	0.22	0.26	14.1
2	TS	22	28	1.27	0.32	0.25	14.3
3	TS	24	28	1.27	0.58	0.46	14.3
1	NB	36	48	0.59	0.10	0.17	4.4
2 ^b	NB	48	68	1.36	0.33	0.24	3.5
3	NB	60	70	0.83	0.10	0.12	4.6

* ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet, TS=Tremblay Sound, NB=Navy Board Inlet

^b possible overestimate

Comparison of 2021 survey results with previous surveys (2016 and 2017) flown in ES stratum showed similar density estimates, with current density estimates ranging from 0.55 to 1.04 seals/km² and past estimates ranging from 0.45 to 0.92 seals/km². A comparison of the highest estimate in 2021 (1.04 seals/km², CV = 0.08) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.92 seals/km², CV = 0.09) indicated no statistically significant difference in the estimates (z-score = 1.02, p = 0.31). In the MI stratum, ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2021 (ranged from 1.74 to 2.84 seals/km²) compared to previous surveys in 2016 and 2017 (ranged from 0.77 to 1.40 seals/km²). A comparison of the highest estimate in 2021 (2.84 seals/km², CV = 0.15) with the highest estimate in 2016 (1.40 seals/km², CV = 0.12) indicated a statistically significantly higher density in 2021 in the MI stratum

(t-test = 3.14, p = 0.003). Ringed seal densities in NB ranged from 0.59 to 0.83 seals/km² in 2021 and from 0.24 to 0.74 seals/km² in 2016 and 2017. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2021 (0.83 seals/km², CV = 0.12) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.74 seals/km², CV = 0.43) indicates no statistically significant difference in the estimates (t-test = 0.27, p = 0.79).

Year	Date	Stratumª/Survey#	Density (seals/km²)	SE CV		Source	
2016	17 June	ES1	0.48	0.06	0.12	Young et al. 2019	
2016	19/22 June	ES2	0.92	0.08	0.09	Young et al. 2019	
2017	6/8 June	ES3	0.45	0.07	0.15	Young et al. 2019	
2021	8 June	ES1	0.55	0.09	0.16	Current Study	
2021	10 June	ES2	0.98	0.10	0.10	Current Study	
2021	12 June	ES3	1.04	0.08	0.08	Current Study	
2016	17 June	MI1	0.77	0.09	0.12	Young et al. 2019	
2016	21 June	MI2	0.98	0.21	0.22	Young et al. 2019	
2016	22 June	MI3	1.40	0.17	0.12	Young et al. 2019	
2021	8/9 June	MI1	1.94	0.35	0.18	Current Study	
2021	10/11 June	MI2	1.74	0.21	0.12	Current Study	
2021	12/14 June	MI3	2.84	0.42	0.15	Current Study	
2016	21 June	NB1	0.74	0.32	0.43	Young et al. 2019	
2016	22 June	NB2	0.26	0.12	0.47	Young et al. 2019	
2017	8 June	NB3	0.24	0.07	0.28	Young et al. 2019	
2021	9 June	NB1	0.59	0.10	0.17	Current Study	
2021	14 June	NB3	0.83	0.10	0.12	Current Study	

Table 3: Comparison of ringed seal density estimates from FLIR strip-transect analyses for strata within the RSA.

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet, TS=Tremblay Sound, NB=Navy Board Inlet

2.4.5 Ringed Seal Hotspots

Survey 3 was selected as the survey to run the density surface modelling on because it had the highest density of ringed seals Yurkowski et al. (2018) used the same criteria (i.e. survey with the highest densities) in selecting the data to calculate hotspots.

Detection Function Model

A total of 498 unique ringed seal observations were made during Survey 3. Of these, four were clipped as outliers because they were beyond the 125 m track width. This data at the outer edge of the photo was due to potential issues with photo / IFR alignment and crabbing of the aircraft (necessary to maintain heading in crosswinds). This left 494 observations for detection function fitting.

Since seal sighting counts were expected to dip beneath the aircraft, this would cause a dip in detection at the trackline. Since detection functions are primarily used is to model decreasing detections with distance from the trackline, the distances from the trackline were reversed so that what is now zero distance was at the outside side edges of the photos and 125 m at the photo center. A histogram of ring seal counts did indicate a dip in detections in the middle of the photos under the aircraft (Figure 12).



Tested models used Uniform, Half-Normal and Hazard Rate detection functions. In this case, testing for an animal availability bias rather than observer detection bias. MCDS models were fitted to the data with different key functions, with and without covariates. The model that best fitted the data was a half-normal key function with one covariate (wind speed). A single global detection function was used with p(x) estimated at 0.907 (CV = 0.04; Figure 12).

The only covariate that proved useful was wind speed, with higher winds resulting in a flatter detection function and lower wind speeds resulting in a greater dip in detections. Essentially, the noise from the wind appeared to mask the aircraft approach. For lower wind speeds it appeared that seals were more likely to dive when the aircraft is directly overhead (combination of visual and audio cues from the aircraft).

The same availability bias for seals in relation to the vertical photo axis (in front of / behind aircraft) could also be expected. No pattern of availability bias was seen in the vertical photo axis but this was not unexpected since the distance covered by the vertical axis is a third less than the horizontal axis. The seal availability-bias correction factor derived by this method (diving due to aircraft proximity) should be considered a minimum value, and not necessarily an absolute value, since detection at "distance zero" is not certain (i.e., seals may be disturbed at distances greater than 125 m from the photo midline).



Figure 12: Histogram showing perpendicular distances of ringed seal observations during Survey 3. Note: Fitted Half-normal key function is shown with right truncation at 125 m. O = probability of detection for each sighting based on the perpendicular distances and wind speed as the covariate. Distances are reversed, with 0 indicating photo edge and 125 m at photo center.

Density Surface Models

A soap-film smoother with a grid of 93 soap knots was selected, which performed the most precise geographic smooths without overfitting the data. This soap knot density in the survey area corresponded to an approximately 8.5 km grid spacing between knots. Regardless of model covariates, the only distribution family that had acceptable quantile–quantile (QQ) plots was the negative binomial, and only those models were evaluated further. A table providing listing the top candidate DSMs, their associated diagnostic parameters and abundance estimates are presented in Table 4.

The model from the minimum depth covariate group had the lowest AIC and was selected as the best model. A visual assessment of the resulting DSM plots also indicated that prediction resulting from the maximum depth variable best represented the sighting distributions. The mean depth model had the bivariate "soap film" smooth of the xy coordinates dropped since its contribution to the model was not significant ($p \le 0.05$). If this model was "forced" to keep the bivariate smooths of location coordinates, the resulting models' geographic predictions were highly flawed, ignoring the high density of sightings in south Milne Inlet. Together in the same model, the floe edge variables and soap film smooth competed to explain the same pattern of geographic distribution leading to poor results.

The density prediction values for the selected model are presented in Figure 13 while a geographic representation of the model variance is presented in Figure A-13 (Appendix A). Model variance is highest near the Pond Inlet floe edge where survey flights were restricted from surveying that area.

The low deviance explained value and issues with the diagnostic plots indicate that important covariates are likely missing from the models. Ice type/thickness and tidal currents/heights are likely to be import covariates that could help to explain the distribution of seal sighting but are not available in detail for the study area. Reducing the segment length and width when correlating bathymetry data may improve the model fit but this would require removing the 500 m bathymetry grid area from the model. The resulting model could be extrapolated to the area of poor bathymetry coverage, but this technique is generally discouraged, even more so since important covariates are likely missing.

	AIC	Spatial model				CV		
GAM Model ^a		xy soap film smoother (edf)	covariates (edf)	Deviance explained	Average Density ^b dsm (#/km2)	ddf	GAM	total
s(MeanDepth) + s(DistPIFE) + s(DistNBFE) + ti(MeanDepth, DistShore)	2168	-	0.9, 1.1, 1.1, 5.4	14.0%	0.302			
soap(x,y) + ti(MaxDepth, DistShore)	2165	15.01	2.7	16.6%	0.295	3.9%	6.2%	7.3%
soap(x,y) + s(MinDepth) + ti(MinDepth, DistShore)	2179	11.6	1.0, 2.0, 2.8	15.6%	0.305			

Table 4: Spatial density mod	els for the negative binomial distribution.
------------------------------	---

a) "s"=univariate smooth; "ti" = bivariate tensor smooth (does not include primary affect of variables unless stated separately); "soap" = bivariate soap film smoother.

b) based on 6,695 km² study area


25mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MIC

2.5 Discussion

2.5.1 Ringed Seal Densities

High-level Summary: Results from the 2021 FLIR survey indicated that ringed seal densities were stable in ES and NB strata, and increased in MI stratum compared to surveys flown in 2016–2017.

Ringed seal densities were calculated using the preferred method identified by Young et al. (2019) using striptransect analysis on "infrared" data obtained from infrared imagery. This allowed a direct comparison of the 2021 ringed seal densities with the 2016 and 2017 densities and would show if ringed seal numbers are increasing, decreasing or remaining stable in the RSA since Project icebreaking activities began in the shoulder seasons in 2018. Three complete aerial surveys were flown in the RSA in 2021. Survey 3 represented the survey with the highest ringed seal densities of

1.04 seals/km² in ES, 2.84 seals/km² in MI, 1.27 seals/km² in TS, and 0.83 seals/km² in NB.

Surveys flown in 2021 showed similar density estimates in ES and NB strata with previous surveys flown in 2016 and 2017 (see Table 3). A comparison in the ES stratum of the highest estimate in 2021 (1.04 seals/km², CV = 0.08) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.92 seals/km², CV = 0.09) indicated no statistically significant difference in density estimates in ES stratum (z-score = 1.02, p = 0.31). Similarly, a comparison in the NB stratum of the highest estimate in 2021 (0.83 seals/km², CV = 0.12) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.74 seals/km², CV = 0.43) indicated no statistically significant difference in density estimates in NB stratum (t-test = 0.27, p = 0.79). In the MI stratum ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2021 compared to previous surveys in 2016 and 2017. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2021 (2.84 seals/km², CV = 0.15) with the highest estimate in 2016 (1.40 seals/km², CV = 0.12) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2021 in the MI stratum (t-test = 3.14, p = 0.003). Based on the current study, ringed seal densities were stable in ES and NB, and potentially increasing in MI since 2016.

2.5.2 Ringed Seal Hotspots

High-level Summary: Results from the 2021 FLIR survey indicated that ringed seal hotspots were located in geographically similar areas to hotspots identified in 2016 and 2017, with hotspots in western Eclipse Sound, southern Milne Inlet and Tremblay Sound. The eastern Eclipse Sound hotspot identified in 2016 and 2017 was not present 2021.

Yurkowski et al. (2018) noted several ringed seal hotspots throughout the RSA during the June spring molt. One hotspot was identified as a large area in western Eclipse Sound extending southward from Bylot Island, and other hotspots were identified in Milne Inlet, eastern Eclipse Sound, and Tremblay Sound (Yurkowski et al. 2018). The amount of spatial overlap of ringed seal hotspots in Eclipse Sound and Navy Board Inlet between 2016 and 2017 was low (75 km² and 12%), however the general locations of ringed seal hotspots in western and eastern Eclipse Sound were geographically similar interannually (Yurkowski et al. 2018).

Using surface density models, ringed seal hotspots were identified in the RSA in 2021 (see Figure 13). Hotspots were identified in similar geographic areas in 2021 as in 2016–2017, with hotspots in western Eclipse Sound, southern Milne Inlet and Tremblay Sound. The eastern Eclipse Sound hotspot identified in 2016 and 2017 was not present in 2021. A possible explanation for the lack of a hotspot in eastern Eclipse Sound in 2021 may be a result of some transects being removed from the eastern portion of ES stratum. The northern half of Navy Board Inlet had low sightings of ringed seals in all years (2016, 2017, and 2021).

Hotspots identified in 2016–2017 (Yurkowski et al. 2018) and in the current study in 2021 represented hotspots during the month of June when ringed seal were in their basking/moulting phase. These hotspots are possibly a good representation of ringed seal density during the period from the formation of the landfast ice in November to the start of the break-up of the land fast ice in late June, an important period in ringed seals' seasonal life-history because of their establishment of territories and subsequent parturition, nursing, breeding, and basking activities (McLaren 1958; Smith 1987). By July ringed seals are transitioning into their foraging phase and are moving around more as the ice begins to break-up and melt. Generally, the area in southern Milne Inlet begins to break-up first with open water extending from Assomption Harbour to Stevens Island within the first week of July. Ring seal hotspots identified in June were unlikely to be present in the same locations in mid-July when icebreaking begins.

2.5.3 Advantages of FLIR Surveys

During the process of analyzing infrared imagery and then verifying observations using the visual photographs, several advantages of using infrared technology for detecting seals on ice were identified:

In the case where the presence of melt ponds makes detection of seals in photographs or by visual observation challenging, the infrared imagery makes detection of seals easy and lessens the chance of the observations being missed (Figure 14). As identified in the analysis of a random set of visual photographs to assess the success rate of the infrared camera data (see Section 2.4.3), five seal observations were missed in the independent analysis of the visual photographs but detected in the infrared method.



Figure 14: Example of paired aerial images obtained from infrared camera (left) and digital single-lens reflex camera (right) during the 2021 RSASP on 14 June demonstrating the efficiency of infrared imagery with visual photographs in poor visual sighting conditions.



As identified in the Young et al. (2019) paper, the presence of dirty or decaying ice, rocks, and melt ponds can create warm spots on the ice that can also make analysis of infrared imagery challenging (Figure 15). However, with tools available in the FLIR ResearchIR Max software, analysts can disregard a number of these erroneous hotspots based on their size, shape, and relative temperature.



Figure 15: Example of paired aerial images obtained from infrared camera (left) and digital single-lens reflex camera (right) during the 2021 RSASP on 14 June demonstrating the efficiency of infrared imagery with visual photographs in poor sighting conditions.

- With the exception of TS, all CV values from the infrared method were <0.25 and comparable to CV values from visual observer methods (distance analysis and strip-transect analysis), despite these methods having more than double the survey coverage because of their wider strip widths. The larger CV values for the TS surveys were consistent across all three surveys and likely due to improper orientation of transects due to the shape and surrounding terrain of the stratum. Young et al. (2019) found the CV of the infrared strip-transect method to be similar to (or better than) the observer methods when survey coverage exceeded 5%. In the current study CV values in NB ranged between 0.12 and 0.24 with the lower CV of 0.12 obtained from 4.6% coverage. Based on CV values in the current study, survey coverage exceeding 4.5% in the infrared strip method may be adequate for obtaining lower CV values with FLIR surveys.</p>
- As stated earlier and identified in the Young et al. (2019) paper, the main advantages of using infrared imagery coupled with visual photographs is it does not require the collection of observer data from the aircraft (i.e., fewer personnel), it allows for high probability of detection, reduces visibility bias, and allows for simplified data processing and density calculations.

3.0 2014 RINGED SEAL VISUAL SURVEY

3.1 Objectives

Ringed seal aerial surveys were conducted in the North Baffin area during June 2014 by LGL Limited on behalf of Baffinland. The objective of the survey was to update baseline data on ringed seal density and distribution along the Northern Shipping Route in the RSA.

3.2 Study Area and Design

During spring 2014 (6–10 June), two aerial surveys were flown between longitudes 75.05°W and 81.08°W. Each survey consisted of 35 north-south transects in Eclipse Sound spaced 4 km apart, four northeast-southwest transects in Milne Inlet spaced 4 km apart, and 23 "zigzag" transects in the southern part of Milne Inlet and Koluktoo Bay (Figure 16).

The timing of the survey was selected to overlap with the peak moulting period in late May to early June (Smith and Hammill 1981) when more ringed seals would be available for detection on the ice and before an influx of ringed seals from the pack ice which generally occurs in the later part of June (Smith and Hammill 1981). Local ice conditions near Pond Inlet were also used to determine when to conduct the aerial surveys.





LEGEN						
	ND					
•	COMM	IUNITY				
	MILNE	PORT				
, ²	MILNE	INLET TOTE ROAD				
	TRANS	SECT				
\square	40 km	BUFFER ZONE				
100	NUNA BOUN	VUT SETTLEMENT A DARY	REA			
	WATER	RBODY				
GEOGI	RPHIC ST	TRATA				
	ECLIP	SE SOUND				
	MILNE	INLET				
li P						
810000						
ľ						
x						
×						
×						
× <						
×						
		0	25		50	
		0	25		50	
		0	25	KILO	50 METRES	
REFER	RENCE(S)	0 1:1,000,000		KILO	50 METRES	
REFER MILNE PIESOD	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F	0 1:1,000,000 FRASTRUCTURE DA ULCRUM DATA MAN	25 ATA BY HATCH, A AGEMENT SITE	KILO JANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. H	50 METRES 17. RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT	GHT
REFER MILNE PIESOI PLACE NATUR	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F AND PR AL RESC	0 1:1,000,000 FRASTRUCTURE DA ULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDAT JURCES CANADA. AI	25 ATA BY HATCH, STA AGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAII LL RIGHTS RES	KILO JANUARY 25, 20 E MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED.	50 METRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (GHT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PLACE NATUR PROJE	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F .; AND PR RAL RESC :CTION: L T	0 1:1,000,000 FRASTRUCTURE DA FULCRUM DATA MAN OURCES CANADA. AI JURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU	25 ATA BY HATCH, IAGEMENT SITE IN DATA OBTAIN LL RIGHTS RES JM: NAD 83	KILO JANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED.	50 METRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (GHT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PLACE NATUR PROJE CLIENT	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F S, AND PR AAL RESC ECTION: L T FINLAI	0 1:1,000,000 FRASTRUCTURE DA FULCRUM DATA MAN VOVINCIAL BOUNDAT JURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU	25 ATA BY HATCH, IAGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIN LL RIGHTS RES IM: NAD 83 ES CORPO	KILO JANUARY 25, 20 JANUARY 25, 20 J	50 METRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (GHT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PLACE NATUR PROJE CLIENT	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F ; AND PR RAL RESC CTION: L F FINLAI	0 1:1,000,000 FRASTRUCTURE DA JULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDAT JURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI	25 ATA BY HATCH, IAGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIN LL RIGHTS RES M: NAD 83 ES CORPC	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 JANY 49, 2017. I NED FROM GEO ERVED. ORATION	50 METRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (GHT ED OF
REFER MILNE PLACE NATUR PROJE CLIENT BAFI	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. PR AL RESC COTION: L FINLAI	0 1:1,000,000 FRASTRUCTURE DA OVINCIAL BOUNDAI DURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI	25 ATA BY HATCH, JAGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIL LL RIGHTS RES M: NAD 83 ES CORPC	KILOP JANUARY 25, 200 E MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED. ORATION	50 METRES I7, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (GHT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PLACE NATUR ROJE CLIENT BAFI PROJE PROJE	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F S, AND PR VAL RESC ECTION: L FINLAI FINLAI	0 1:1,000,000 FRASTRUCTURE DA OVINCIAL BOUNDAI DURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AFF	25 ATA BY HATCH, JAGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIL LL RIGHTS RES MI: NAD 83 ES CORPO	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED. DRATION	50 METRES I7, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (GHT ED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PLACE NATUR PROJE CLIENT PROJE MAR 2021 TITI F	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F S, AND PR RAL RESC COTION: L F FINLAI FINLAI CT CT CT CT CT CT CT CT CT CT CT CT	0 1:1,000,000 FRASTRUCTURE DA ULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDATA DURCES CANADA. AI JITM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER	25 ATA BY HATCH, AGEMENT SITE ILL RIGHTS RES IM: NAD 83 ES CORPC	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 E MAY 19, 2017. F NED FROM GEO ERVED. DRATION EYS	50 METRES I7, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (GHT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PROJE CLIENT PROJE ROJE MAR MAR 2021 TITLE GEO	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F ; AND PR CAL RESC COTION: L F FINLAI CT Y RIVI RING DGRAP	0 FRASTRUCTURE DA ULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDATA DURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER PHIC STRATA	25 ATA BY HATCH, , AGGEMENT SITE V DATA OBTAIN LL RIGHTS RES IM: NAD 83 ES CORPC	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 E MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED. DRATION EYS SECTS FO	50 WETRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT OR 2014 RINGED	GHT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESO PROJE CLIENT PROJE CLIENT PROJE MAR 2021 TITLE GEO SEA	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F ;AND PR AL RESC COTION: L FINLAI FINLAI COT RING OGRAP LAER	0 FRASTRUCTURE DA FULCRUM DATA MAN SVINCIAL BOUNDAI DURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER PHIC STRATA IAL SURVEYS	25 ATA BY HATCH, VAGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIN LL RIGHTS RES JM: NAD 83 ES CORPC AIAL SURVI AND TRAN	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 E MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED. DRATION EYS SECTS FO	50 METRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT OR 2014 RINGED	GHT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESO CLIENT BAFI BAFI PROJE MAR 2021 TITLE GEO SEA CONSU	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F S, AND PR SCTION: L F FINLAI CT RY RIVI RING DGRAP LAER JLTANT	0 FRASTRUCTURE DA OULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDAT JURCES CANADA. AI JIM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER PHIC STRATA IAL SURVEYS	25 ATA BY HATCH, MAGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIN RY DATA OBTAIN S ES CORPC RIAL SURVI AND TRAN S	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED. DRATION EYS ISECTS FO	50 METRES I7, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (PR 2014 RINGED 2022-06-21	GHT ED OF
REFER MILNE PIESO CLIENT BAFI BAFI PROJE MAR 2021 TITLE GEO SEA CONSU	RENCE(S) PORT IN LO LTD. F AL RESC COTION: L FINLAI FINLAI COT RING OGRAP LAER JUTANT	0 FRASTRUCTURE DA OULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDAT JURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER PHIC STRATA.	25 ATA BY HATCH, AGGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIN LL RIGHTS RES M: NAD 83 ES CORPC RIAL SURVI AND TRAN S	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED. DRATION EYS ISECTS FO	50 METRES I7, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (PR 2014 RINGED 2022-06-21 TT	GHT TED OF
REFER MILRSO PLACE NATUR PROJE BAFI BAFI 9000 PROJE MAR 2021 TITLE GEO SEA CONSU	RENCE(S) PORT IN LOL TD. F AL RESC COTION: L FINLAI FINLAI COT RING DGRAP LAER JLTANT	0 FRASTRUCTURE DA OULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDAT DURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER PHIC STRATA IAL SURVEYS	25 ATA BY HATCH, AGGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIL LL RIGHTS RES M: NAD 83 ES CORPC RIAL SURVE AND TRAN S YY ER	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. H NED FROM GEO ERVED. DRATION EYS ISECTS FO YY-MM-DD SIGNED EPARED	50 METRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (PR 2014 RINGED 2022-06-21 TT AJA	GHT FED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PLACE NATUR PROJE CLIENT BAFI BAFI PROJE MAR 2021 TITLE GEO SEA CONSU	RENCE(S) PORT IN LO LTD. F AND PR CAL RESC CTION: L FINLAI FINLAI ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT	0 FRASTRUCTURE DA OUCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDAR DURCES CANADA. AI JTM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER PHIC STRATA IAL SURVEYS	25 ATA BY HATCH, ATA BY HATCH, AGGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIN ILL RIGHTS RES M: NAD 83 ES CORPC RIAL SURVI AND TRAN S YY DE R NP R R PR R R PR R R	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 JANUARY 25, 20 JANUARY 25, 20 INCOMPTON ENTRY SALES INCOMPTON SIGNED SUISANED SUISANED SUISANED	50 METRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (2022-06-21 TT AJA TT	GHTT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PROJE CLIENT BAFI PROJE MAR 2021 TITLE GEO SEA CONSU	RENCE (S) PORT IN LD LTD. F AL RESC CTION: L F FINLAI ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT ECT	0 FRASTRUCTURE DA OULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDAI DURCES CANADA. AI JIM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER PHIC STRATA IAL SURVEYS	25 ATA BY HATCH, JAGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIN ILL RIGHTS RES M: NAD 83 ES CORPC RIAL SURVI AND TRAN S YY DE R VSP R RE AP	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 JANUARY 25, 20 JANUARY 25, 20 INCOMPTON SIGNED SIGNED SIGNED SIGNED SIGNED SIGNED SIGNED SIGNED SIGNED SIGNED	50 METRES 17, RETRIEVED FROM KNI YDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (2022-06-21 TT AJA TT PA	GHT TED OF
REFER MILNE PIESOI PLACE NATUR BAFI OBAFI TITLE GEO SEA CONSU	RENCE(S) PORT IN LD LTD. F AL RESC CTION: L F FINLAI ECT Y RIVI RING DGRAP LAER JUTANT	0 FRASTRUCTURE DA OULCRUM DATA MAN OVINCIAL BOUNDAI DURCES CANADA. AI JIM ZONE 17 DATU ND IRON MINI ER PROJECT ED SEAL AER PHIC STRATA IAL SURVEYS	25 ATA BY HATCH, AGEMENT SITE RY DATA OBTAIN LL RIGHTS RES M: NAD 83 ES CORPC RIAL SURVI AND TRAN S YY ER R PR RE AP	KILOP JANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. I NED FROM GEO ERVED. DRATION EYS SECTS FO YY-MM-DD SIGNED EPARED VIEWED PROVED REV	50 METRES I7, RETRIEVED FROM KNI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULAT GRATIS, © DEPARTMENT O 2022-06-21 TT AJA TT PA /. FIGU	

3.3 Material and Methods

3.3.1 Field Methodology

Surveys were flown in a de Havilland Twin Otter (DH-6) equipped with four bubble windows. Visual line transect surveys were conducted at an altitude of 91 m (300 ft) and a ground speed of 222 km/h (120 kts) with four marine mammal observers (MMOs). The MMOs were stationed at the front and rear bubble windows that provide a view of the track line directly below the aircraft. The MMOs focused their scanning effort on a ~1,000-m strip on each side of the aircraft while on transect. For each seal sighting, the MMO dictated onto a digital voice recorder the species, number of animals, activity, behaviour, structure associated with sighting (i.e., hole or crack) and angle of inclination (using a clinometer) to the sighting location. The visual surveys were conducted as a double-platform experiment with independent observation platforms at the front (primary observers) and rear (secondary observers) of the survey plane. The two MMOs stationed on the same side of the aircraft were separated visually and acoustically to achieve independence of their conditional detections. A fifth member of the survey team was responsible for overseeing navigation along the survey grid and entering additional sighting data obtained from the primary observers into the database.

At the end of each 1-min time period along a transect (and whenever noticeable changes occurred), the two primary observers dictated onto a digital voice recorder the time, ice cover (intervals of 10%), ice type, ice roughness (intervals of 10%), sun glare (none, moderate, severe), and overall sightability conditions (subjectively classified as excellent, good, moderately impaired, severely impaired, or impossible).

A computer was connected to a Garmin GPS receiver with an external antenna, independent of the aircraft GPS. Latitude, longitude and flight altitude from the GPS were transmitted to the computer every second. The navigator viewed the aircraft's location and path in real time using Garmin NRoute 2.7.6 software and communicated the transect start/end times to the primary observers.

3.3.2 Data Analysis

Ringed seal density estimates were calculated using two different methods (strip-transect and line-transect analysis) to allow for comparison with subsequent surveys flown in 2016 and 2017 (Young et al. 2019).

3.3.2.1 Strip-Transect Analysis

Based on poor detection of seals close to the transect centerline and the possibility of seals diving along the centerline, observations used for the strip-transect analyses of visual observer data were left-truncated at a distance of 100 m. The strip-transect analysis was performed on a 600 m wide strip and consisted of observations made between distances of 100 and 400 m on each side of the aircraft, following the methods of Young et al. (2015) and Chambellant et al. (2012b). Only sightings made by primary observers were used in this analysis to enable a comparison with the numbers presented in the Young et al. (2019). The density of ringed seals per km² was estimated following Buckland et al. (2001) by computing the number of detected seals over the surveyed strip area:

$$\widehat{D} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i / \omega \sum_{i=1}^{k} l_i$$



Where k is the number of transects flown, n_i is the number of ringed seals counted on the i^{th} transect, ω is the width of the strip, and l_i is the length of the i^{th} transect.

Following Kingsley and Smith (1981), the variance of density, was determined by:

$$\sigma^{2}(\widehat{D}) = k \times \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{k-1} (d_{i} - d_{i+1})^{2}}{2(k-1) \times (\omega \sum_{i=1}^{k} l_{i})^{2}}$$

where

$$d_i = n_i - \widehat{D} \times \omega l_i$$

The coefficient of variation (CV) of the estimated density was calculated by dividing the square root of the variance by the estimated density.

3.3.2.2 Line-Transect Analysis

Line-transect distance analysis was also used to analyse the 2014 dataset. The standard analysis method of this design assumed that on average, over multiple replications of the survey, each point within the survey area had an equal likelihood of being sampled (uniform coverage probability). Given that the locations of the transect lines were considered random with respect to the location of ringed seals, the average density of ringed seals was considered to be the same irrespective of distance from the transect line. Subsequently, any observed change in ringed seal sightings with increasing distance from the transect line was considered a change in the probability of detection, rather than a true change in animal density. The change in detection probability with respect to sighting distance from the track line (flight path) was measured to provide an estimate of the average probability of detection of an animal, which was, in turn, used to estimate the density of ringed seals in the survey area.

Density was calculated by using the line transect estimation method (Buckland et al. 2001). In the standard approach, animal density (D) was estimated using the following equation:

$$\frac{n * f(0) * \widehat{E}(s)}{2 * L * g(0)}$$

Where *n* is the number of observed objects (single or clusters of animals), *f* (0) is the estimated probability density function at zero distance, $\hat{E}(s)$ is the estimate of expected value of cluster size (estimated group size), *L* (effort) is the total length of transect lines surveyed and *g* (0) is the probability of detection on the transect line. Effort was calculated as total length of transect lines surveyed using trackline GPS data. Transits between transects were not included in effort calculations.

Encounter rate $\left[\frac{n}{L}\right]^n$ from the equation above] was calculated as the number of ringed seal sighting per transect kilometre and was specific to each survey area. Even though the encounter rate was calculated (not estimated), there was a degree of variability in its value since encounter rate may vary among individual transects. Encounter rate variance was estimated using the S2 estimator available within Distance 7.3 (Fewster et al. 2009).

Group size $[\hat{E}(s)]$ from equation above] was estimated to correct for observer size-bias whereby larger groups were more likely to be seen at long distances than smaller groups (or individuals). The regression of the natural log of cluster size was tested against the estimated g(x) and considered significant at an alpha level of 0.1; the value of



mean group size was used for non-significant results. Distance truncation of the data was performed to remove sightings past a selected distance to remove outliers from the dataset that would otherwise inflate density and abundance estimates, and to eliminate hard-to-fit portions of the dataset.

An implicit assumption of this method was that the probability of detection depended solely on an animal's perpendicular distance from the transect line. Line transect theory assumes that all animals on the transect line were detected with certainty (g(0) = 1). However, aerial survey observers miss some ringed seal visible on the ice (Richard et al. 2010), referred to as perception bias. This "perception bias" (Marsh and Sinclair 1989) can be corrected for by using mark-recapture (MR) methods on the sighting data from two observers on the same side of the plane (Laake and Borchers 2004). Thus, the combination of Mark-Recapture Distance Sampling (MRDS) methods can be used to estimate density without assuming that g(0) = 1. The two observers in the front of the plane were considered to be the first platform and referred to as "primary observers", and the two observers in the rear were considered to be the second platform or "secondary observers".

To conduct MRDS analysis, duplicate sightings (those seen by both the primary and secondary observer) must be identified. The following criteria, based on previous DFO surveys (Asselin and Richard 2011; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015), were used to identify sightings:

- Timing of sightings within 10 seconds
- Perpendicular declination angle within 10°

As MRDS analysis in Distance requires that duplicate sightings be identical, when this was not the case, the following adjustments to the data were made:

- Used the average perpendicular declination angle as measured by the two observers
- Used the largest group size as measured by the two observers
- Used group differentiation as measured by the primary observer

Although primary and secondary observers were acting independently, detection probabilities of observers can be correlated because of factors such as group size (for example, both observers are more likely to see only large groups at long distances). Buckland et al. (2009) developed a point-independence model, which assumes that detections were independent only on the track line. This model is usually more robust than a model assuming that detections were independent at all perpendicular distances.

Line-transect analyses to estimate density were performed with the MRDS package in R. A point-independence model involved estimating two functions: a multiple covariate DS detection function for detections pooled across platforms, assuming certain detection on the track line, and a MR detection function to estimate the probability of detection on the track line.

It is an unrealistic assumption that all animals on the transect line are detected with certainty (g(0) = 1) for animals that spend considerable time underwater where observers fail to detect animals due to availability bias (animal was not detected because it was diving under the ice) (Marsh and Sinclair 1989). Correcting for availability bias requires published dive profile data to reliably estimate the proportion of time different marine mammal species spend diving (Laake et al. 1997). Availability bias was not accounted for in the DFO paper (Young et al. 2019) and therefore was not accounted for in this report to allow for comparisons between the data.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Survey Coverage

Two surveys were flown between 6–10 June 2014 (Table 5). Over the course of the two surveys, a total of 2,180.5 km of survey effort was conducted and 100% of the planned survey effort was completed. Surveys were flown between 08:00 and 18:00 whenever weather conditions allowed. Survey coverage and associated seal sightings in areas of open water and pack ice habitat east of the landfast ice edge at the entrance to Pond Inlet are excluded from the values presented in this report.

Table 5: Summary of surveys, dates, transects completed, and effort for aerial surveys of ringed seals in the RSA in June 2014.

Date	Survey #	Strataª	Transects (completed/planned)	Effort (km)
6-7 June 2014	1	ES	35/35	825.2
6 June 2014	1	MI	27/27	262.7
Subtotal	1		62/62	1,087.9
8-10 June 2014	2	ES	35/35	829.6
8 June 2014	2	MI	27/27	263.0
Subtotal	2		62/62	1,092.6

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet

3.4.2 Sighting Conditions

Environmental sighting conditions were recorded during the surveys at the beginning and end of each transect and anytime conditions changed along the track. All sighting conditions were recorded within the 1,000 m strip on each side of the aircraft. Sightings conditions were evaluated based on survey effort when each condition was observed.

Cloud Cover

Cloud cover during the 2014 ringed seal aerial survey ranged from 0 to 100%. During Survey 1 conditions were variable ranging from 0 to 100% (Figure 17). Cloud cover conditions during Survey 2 ranged from 50 to 100% with the majority (80%) of the survey effort flown in 90–100% cloud cover (Figure 17).





Figure 17: Cloud cover during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey.

Air Temperature

Air temperatures during the 2014 ringed seal aerial survey ranged from -1 to 4°C (Figure 18). During Survey 1, conditions were variable and temperatures ranged from -1 to 4°C with a mean air temperature of 2°C. Air temperature conditions during Survey 2 ranged from -1 to 0°C with a mean air temperature of 0°C.



Figure 18: Air temperature during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey.

Melt Water

Melt water on the ice surface during the 2014 ringed seal aerial survey ranged from 0 to 10%. During Survey 1, conditions ranged from 0% to 10% melt water with the majority (98%) of the survey effort flown over 0% melt water (Figure 19). During Survey 2, conditions ranged from 0% to 10% melt water with the majority (94%) of the survey effort flown over 0% melt water (Figure 19).



Figure 19: Melt water presence on ice surface during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey.

Snow/Ice Roughness

Snow/ice roughness during the 2014 ringed seal aerial survey ranged from 0 to 40%. Zero percent roughness represents a smooth ice surface with no snow drifts or ice ridges, whereas a 40% roughness represents an ice surface with 40% of it covered in snow drifts and/or ice ridges. During Survey 1, conditions ranged from 0% to 40% roughness with the majority (68%) of the survey effort flown over 0% snow/ice roughness (Figure 20). During Survey 2, conditions ranged from 0% to 40% roughness with the majority (78%) of the survey effort flown over 0% snow/ice roughness (Figure 20).





Figure 20: Snow/Ice roughness during 2014 ringed seal aerial survey.

Sightability

Sightability ranged from excellent to impossible during the 2014 ringed seal aerial survey. During Survey 1, conditions ranged from excellent to impossible with the majority (99%) of the survey effort flown in excellent or good sighting conditions (Figure 21). Sighting conditions during Survey 2 were either excellent or good for the duration of the survey (Figure 21).





3.4.3 Survey Sightings

The numbers of observed ringed seals varied between the two surveys even though they were surveyed within 72 hours of each other. A total of 2,530 ringed seals (2,023 sightings) were seen on-effort by the primary observers and a total of 3,207 ringed seals (2,433 sightings) were seen on-effort by the combined primary and secondary observers in landfast ice habitat during the two surveys (Table 6).

 Table 6: Ringed seal sightings and number of individuals recorded during aerial surveys in late spring

 2014. Includes all on-effort sightings.

Date	Survey #	Strataª	Sightings (Primary)	Number of Individuals (Primary)	Sightings (Primary & Secondary)	Number of Individuals (Primary & Secondary)
6-7 June 2014	1	ES	581	697	745	968
6 June 2014	1	MI	186	216	261	333
Subtotal	1		767	913	1,006	1,301
8-10 June 2014	2	ES	816	1,057	930	1,262
8 June 2014	2	MI	440	560	497	644
Subtotal	2		1,256	1,617	1,427	1,906

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet

Ringed seals were widely distributed throughout the study area during aerial surveys in the spring of 2014 (Figures 22 and 23).





LEGEND				
1				
 COMMU 	INITY -	MILNE INLE	ET TOTE ROAD	
👸 ★ 🛛 MILNE F	PORT	40 km BUF	FER ZONE	
			SETTLEMENT AREA	
NARWHAI	(GROUP SIZE)	WATERBOI		
10+				
POLAR BEAR				
1				
RINGED SEAL				
• 1				
2-10				
10+				
8				
8100				
k				
×				
× ×				
	0	25	50	
	0	25	50	
	0 1:1,000,000	25 KI	50 LOMETRES	
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA	25 KI TCH, JANUARY 25.	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM	
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PLACE AND PRO	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HAT JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMENT	25 KI TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 BTAINED FROM G	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTM	I KNIG JLATE
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PRO DRO JECTION. UT DRO JECTION. UT	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HAT JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN VINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JRCES CANADA. ALL RIGHT W ZONE 12. DATING MAC	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 20M G BTAINED FROM G RESERVED.	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME	I KNIQ JLATE ENT O
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PROJECTION: UT CLIENT	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN VINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JRCES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS IM ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 8:	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, TSITE MAY 19, 201 BTAINED FROM G RESERVED. 3	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME	I KNIG JLATE ENT O
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PRC NATURAL RESOL PROJECTION: UI CLIENT 8 BAFFINLAN	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN VINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JRCES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS M ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 8 ID IRON MINES COI	25 TICH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 BITAINED FROM G S RESERVED. 3 RPORATION	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME	I KNIG JLATE ENT O
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PRC NATURAL RESOL PROJECTION: UI CLIENT BAFFINLAN	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN VINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JRCES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS M ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 83 ID IRON MINES COI	25 TICH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 BTAINED FROM G BTAINED FROM G RESERVED. 3 RPORATION	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME	I KNIQ JLATE ENT O
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PROJECTION: UT CLIENT BAFFINLAN BAFFINLAN	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA' JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' DVINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JRCES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS IN ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 8 ID IRON MINES COI	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 BTAINED FROM G RESERVED. 3 RPORATION	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME	I KNIG JLATE ENT O
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PRO NATURAL RESOL PROJECTION: UT CLIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA' JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' IN ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 8: ID IRON MINES COF IN PROJECT ED SEAL ACEDIAL SU	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 BTAINED FROM G RESERVED. REPORATION	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME	I KNIG JLATE ENT O
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FU PLACE, AND PRO NATURAL RESOL PROJECTION: UT CLIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE 2021 RINGE TITI F	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA' JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' VINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JICES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS IM ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 83 ID IRON MINES COF ID IRON MINES COF IR PROJECT ED SEAL AERIAL SU	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 BTAINED FROM G RESERVED. 3 RPORATION	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME	I KNIQ JLATE ENT O
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FU PLACE, AND PRO NATURAL RESOL PROJECTION: UT CLIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE 2021 RINGE TITLE DISTRIBUT	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA' JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' VINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JICES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS IM ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 83 ID IRON MINES COF ID IRON MINES COF ID IRON MINES COF ID SEAL AERIAL SU ION OF RINGED SE	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 DBTAINED FROM G RESERVED. 3 RPORATION	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME	I KNIC
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PROJ PROJECTION: UT CLIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE 2021 RINGE TITLE DISTRIBUT NARWHALS	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA' JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' VINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA CO JICCES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS IM ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 83 ID IRON MINES COR ID IRON MINES COR ID IRON MINES COR ID SEAL AERIAL SU ION OF RINGED SE S RECORDED DURI	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 BTAINED FROM G RESERVED. 3 RPORATION IRVEYS CALS, POLAF NG SURVEY	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME COGRATIS, © DEPARTME	
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PROJ ULIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE 2021 RINGE TITLE DISTRIBUT NARWHALS CONSULTANT	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA' JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN' JUCKIM DOUNDARY DATA C JRCES CANADA ALL RIGHTS TM ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 8 ID IRON MINES COI ID IRON MINES COI ID IRON MINES COI IS PROJECT ED SEAL AERIAL SU ION OF RINGED SE S RECORDED DURI	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 2010 BRIAINED FROM G RESERVED. 3 RPORATION IRVEYS GALS, POLAF ING SURVEY YYYY-MM-DD	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME COGRATIS, © DEPARTME BEARS AND 1 ON 6-7 JUNE 2022-06-21	
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PRO- UCLIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE 2021 RINGE TITLE DISTRIBUT NARWHALS CONSULTANT	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HAT JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMENT JUCKIM DATA MANAGEMENT STR ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 8: ID IRON MINES COP ID IRON OF RINGED SE S RECORDED DURIN	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 STAINED FROM G BRESERVED. 3 RPORATION IRVEYS ALS, POLAF ING SURVEY YYYY-MM-DD DESIGNED	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME CORATIS, © DEPARTME BEARS AND 1 ON 6-7 JUNE 2 2022-06-21 TT	
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PRO- NATURAL RESOL PROJECTION: UT CLIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE 2021 RINGE TITLE DISTRIBUT NARWHALS CONSULTANT	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HAT JUCRUM DATA MANAGEMENT SUNCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JRCES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS IN ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 83 ID IRON MINES COF IR PROJECT ED SEAL AERIAL SU ION OF RINGED SE S RECORDED DURI GOLDER	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 STAINED FROM G STAINED FROM G RESERVED. RPORATION IRVEYS ALS, POLAF ING SURVEY VYYY-MM-DD DESIGNED PREPARED	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME BEARS AND 1 ON 6-7 JUNE 2 2022-06-21 TT AJA	I KNIG JLATE ENT O
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PROJ CLIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE 2021 RINGE TITLE DISTRIBUT NARWHALS CONSULTANT	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HAT JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN INCIAL BOUNDARY DATA C JRCES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS TM ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 83 ID IRON MINES COF IR PROJECT ED SEAL AERIAL SU ION OF RINGED SE S RECORDED DURI GOLDER MEMBER OF WSP	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 STAINED FROM G RESERVED. RPORATION IRVEYS ALS, POLAF ING SURVEY ALS, POLAF ING SURVEY PREPARED REVIEWED	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME BEARS AND 1 ON 6-7 JUNE 2 2022-06-21 TT AJA TT	
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INF PIESOLD LTD. FL PLACE, AND PROJ CLIENT BAFFINLAN PROJECT MARY RIVE 2021 RINGE TITLE DISTRIBUT NARWHALS CONSULTANT	0 1:1,000,000 RASTRUCTURE DATA BY HAT JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN JLCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN ILCRUM DATA MANAGEMEN INTO A MANAGEMEN INTO A MANAGEMENT INTO A MANAGEMENT	25 TCH, JANUARY 25, T SITE MAY 19, 201 STAINED FROM G STAINED FROM G REPORATION IRVEYS ALS, POLAF ING SURVEY YYYY-MM-DD DESIGNED PREPARED REVIEWED APPROVED	50 LOMETRES 2017, RETRIEVED FROM 7. HYDROGRAPHY, POPI EOGRATIS, © DEPARTME BEARS AND 1 ON 6-7 JUNE 2 2022-06-21 TT AJA TT PA	

JET THE SHORE OF A SUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HA



• COMM			LET TOTE ROAD	
8 🔶 MILNE		40 km Bl	IFFER ZONE	
			IT SETTLEMENT AREA	
OBSERVATION	S (GROUP SIZE)	BOUNDA	ARY	
BEARDED SEA	L	WATERE	ODY	
• 1				
NARWHAL				
▼ 1				
2-10				
POLAR BEAR				
2-10				
RINGED SEAL				
• 1				
2.10				
2-10				
10+				
UNIDENTIFIED	WHALE			
⊽ 1				
000				
8100				
1				
	0	05	50	
	0	25	50	
	1.1 000 000		KILOMETRES	
REFERENCE(S)		RILOWE I RES	
MILNE PORT IN	, FRASTRUCTURE DATA BY HA	TCH, JANUARY 2	25, 2017, RETRIEVED FR	
PLACE, AND PF	ROVINCIAL BOUNDARY DATA (DBTAINED FROM	GEOGRATIS, © DEPAR	TMENT O
NATURAL RESO PROJECTION: 0	DURCES CANADA. ALL RIGHTS JTM ZONE 17 DATUM: NAD 8	S RESERVED. 3		
CLIENT				
BAFFINLA	ND IRON MINES CO	RPORATIO	Ν	
8000				
	EN FROJECT	IRVEYS		
TITLE				
DISTRIBU	TION OF RINGED SE	ALS, POLA	AR BEARS AND	
NARWHAI	S RECORDED DUR	ING SURVE	Y 2 ON 8-10 JU	NE 201
CONSULTANT		YYYY-MM-DD	2022-06-21	
		DESIGNED	тт	
	GOLDER	PREPARED	AJA	
	MEMBER OF WSP	REVIEWED	TT	
	memoral of Wor		PA	
	CONTROL	A FROVED	REV	FIGU
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	CONTROL		·	1 1001
1663724	41000-05		0	- 2

75mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIFIED

3.4.4 Density Estimates

3.4.4.1 Strip-Transect Densities

A summary of ringed seal densities for each survey and stratum is presented in Table 7. Ringed seal had the highest density in the Milne Inlet stratum (1.45 seals/km²) and the lowest density in the Eclipse Sound stratum (0.53 seals/km²). Densities also varied within strata, with Survey 1 having lower densities than Survey 2 (Table 7). The highest ringed seal densities (0.60 seals/km² in ES, 1.45 seals/km² in MI) were recorded during Survey 2.

Table 7: Ringed seal density (seals/km²), SE (standard error), and CV (coefficient of variation) from two aerial surveys flown in the study area of 2014.

Survey	Strataª	# Sighting	# Individuals	Density (seals/km²)	SE	CV
1	ES	233	263	0.53	0.05	0.10
1	MI	92	107	0.68	0.10	0.15
2	ES	253	301	0.60	0.04	0.07
2	MI	193	226	1.45	0.20	0.14

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet

A comparison of 2014 surveys with subsequent 2016 surveys flown in ES stratum showed similar density estimates, with 2014 density estimates ranging from 0.53 to 0.60 seals/km² and 2016 estimates ranging from 0.37 to 0.52 seals/km². A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (0.60 seals/km², CV = 0.07) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.52 seals/km², CV = 0.10) indicated no statistically significant difference in ringed seal densities (z-score = 1.25, p = 0.21). In the MI stratum, ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2014 (ranged from 0.68 to 1.45 seals/km²) compared to 2016 surveys (ranged from 0.19 to 0.31 seals/km²). A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (1.45 seals/km², CV = 0.14) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.31 seals/km², CV = 0.17) indicated statistically significant higher density observed in 2014 in the MI stratum (t-test = 5.49, p < 0.001).

Year	Date	Strataª/Survey#	Density (seals/km²)	SE	CV	Source
2014	6–7 June	ES1	0.53	0.05	0.10	Current Study
2014	8–10 June	ES2	0.60	0.04	0.07	Current Study
2016	17 June	ES1	0.37	0.06	0.17	Young et al. 2019
2016	19–22 June	ES2	0.52	0.05	0.10	Young et al. 2019
2014	6 June	MI1	0.68	0.10	0.15	Current Study
2014	8 June	MI2	1.45	0.20	0.14	Current Study
2016	17 June	MI1	0.19	0.04	0.19	Young et al. 2019
2016	21 June	MI2	0.19	0.04	0.19	Young et al. 2019
2016	22 June	MI3	0.31	0.05	0.17	Young et al. 2019

Table 8: Comparison of ringed seal densities from observer strip-transect analyses for strata in the RSA.

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet



3.4.4.2 Line-Transect Analysis

3.4.4.2.1 Data Characteristics

Sightings data from both surveys in the survey grid supplemented one another to provide a more robust model of probability detection function. The same MMOs flew both surveys and were incorporated into the model as a covariate. Re-sightings were not used for the estimation of any variables.

One detection function was created for ringed seal for the combined surveys. Sightings data was pooled between dates to increase sample size in order to meet the assumptions of the detection probability model, but only if the spatial distribution of species detections (sightings) were similar between those days (i.e., the ability to detect animals at a distance did not change under the available sighting conditions, including altitude). Combining survey data for days with apparent variability in detectability can skew findings and result in either an over- or under-estimation of true animal density for a specific date. Environmental conditions were good for all the surveys chosen to calculate densities.

Analysis of sightings data was performed using the MRDS analysis package within R version 3.6.2 (R Core Team 2019; Laake et al. 2018). The shape of the histogram suggested that some animals were missed close to the trackline despite the bubble windows. There was a risk that hazard-rate and half-normal distributions would overestimate the probability of detection and the resulting effective strip width. The gamma key function does not assume a 100% detection on the track line (g(0) = 1). A horizontal offset value can be applied to the gamma detection function data since that key function assumes zero detections at zero distance, although no offset was required for this data set. Environmental and observer covariates were included for fitting the detection function and mark-recapture models. Models were selected using the minimum AIC.

The combined ringed seal sightings (n = 2,207) for the Eclipse Sound survey grid were used for estimating the detection function and mark-recapture detection probabilities for ringed seal (Figure 24). Based on survey methods of focused scanning effort on a 1,000 m strip on each side of the aircraft, the histogram of the perpendicular distances of unique sightings was right-truncated at 1,000 m (i.e., discarding sightings beyond 1,000 m).

Model selection was performed on the three key functions and all the combinations of environmental covariates. A gamma key function and covariates for ObserverPair + CloudCover:Sightability with a cosine adjustment series (4th and 5th orders) had the lowest AIC for detection function models: (g(x) = 0.52 and CV = 0.05; Appendix B).

Selection among mark-recapture models was performed on all combinations of environmental covariates. The lowest AIC was a model with covariates for distance:observer:ObserverPair + ObserverPair + PercIceRough:Sightability (Appendix B). It resulted in a p(0) of 0.71 for observers 1 (Figure 25) and 0.65 for observers 2 (Figure 26), and a combined p(0) of 0.89 and (CV = 0.01). The combined models resulted in a detection probability of 0.58 (CV = 0.05).













3.4.4.2.2 Line-Transect Densities

Overall, there were 2,433 ringed seal sightings observed on-effort by primary and secondary observers for Surveys 1 and 2 combined (Table 9). All sightings had perpendicular distances recorded during flight.

During Survey 1 (6–7 June 2014), a total of 1,087.9 km of transects were visually surveyed (Table 9). The total count of ringed seal sightings observed on-effort in the truncated visual survey area was 941 sightings (Table 9). Although variation of the density estimate was a combination of the variation from detection function, encounter rate, cluster size and availability bias, the overall variation in abundance estimates came primarily from the encounter rate component (Table 9). Ringed seal density for Survey 1 was estimated at 1.07 ringed seal/km² (CV = 0.09) in ES stratum and 1.14 ringed seal/km² (CV = 0.17) in MI stratum (Table 9).

The total length of transect lines visually surveyed during Survey 2 (8–10 June 2014) was 1,092.6 km (Table 9). The total count of ringed seal sightings observed on-effort in the truncated visual survey area was 1,266 sightings (Table 9). Although variation of the density estimate was a combination of the variation from detection function, encounter rate, cluster size and availability bias, the overall variation in abundance estimates came primarily from the encounter rate component (Table 9). Ringed seal density for Survey 2 was estimated at 1.27 ringed seal/km² (CV = 0.09) in ES stratum and 2.13 ringed seal/km² (CV = 0.12) in MI stratum (Table 9).

Survey	Strataª	Effort (km)	No. Sight. Before Trunc.	No. Sight. After Trunc.	Density Estimate (seals/km²)	CV	% CV contributed by Encounter Rate	% CV contributed by Cluster Size	% CV contributed by MRDS function
1	ES	825.2	745	698	1.07	0.09	59.2	8.9	32.0
1	MI	262.7	261	243	1.14	0.17	86.3	3.6	10.1
2	ES	829.6	930	818	1.27	0.09	58.1	5.7	36.2
2	MI	263.0	497	448	2.13	0.12	68.6	10.7	20.8

Table 9: Ringed seal density estimates from visual surveys during 2014 aerial surveys.

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet

In the ES stratum, ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2014 (ranged from 1.07 to 1.27 seals/km²) compared to 2016 (ranged from 0.57 to 0.79 seals/km²) surveys. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.09) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.79 seals/km², CV = 0.11) indicated statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2014 in the ES stratum (t-test = 3.36, p = 0.004). Similarly, in the MI stratum, ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2014 (ranged from 1.14 to 2.13 seals/km²) compared to 2016 (ranged from 0.93 to 1.27 seals/km²) surveys. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (2.13 seals/km², CV = 0.12) with the highest estimate in 2016 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.16) found a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2014 in the MI stratum (t-test = 2.66, p = 0.013).

Year	Date	Strataª/Survey#	Density	CV	Source
2014	6/7 June	ES1	1.07	0.09	Current Study
2014	8/10 June	ES2	1.27	0.09	Current Study
2016	17 June	ES1	0.57	0.16	Young et al. 2019
2016	19/22 June	ES2	0.79	0.11	Young et al. 2019
2014	6 June	MI1	1.14	0.17	Current Study
2014	8 June	MI2	2.13	0.12	Current Study
2016	17 June	MI1	0.97	0.16	Young et al. 2019
2016	21 June	MI2	0.93	0.18	Young et al. 2019
2016	22 June	MI3	1.27	0.16	Young et al. 2019

Table 10: Comparison of ringed seal densities

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet

3.5 Discussion

Ringed seal densities were calculated for the 2014 aerial surveys using visual strip-transect and line-transect analysis methods. This allowed a comparison of the 2014 ringed seal densities with the 2016 densities and would show if ringed seal numbers were increasing, decreasing or remaining stable in the RSA since the onset of shipping operations in 2015. Two complete aerial surveys were flown in the RSA in 2014.



45

3.5.1 Strip-Transect Densities

High-level Summary: Results from the 2014 aerial survey indicated that ringed seal densities were stable in ES stratum and decreased in MI stratum in 2016. Baseline surveys flown in 2007 and 2008 indicated MI stratum varied in ringed seal densities annually.

Young et al. (2019) calculated ringed seal densities for surveys flown in the RSA in 2016 using visual striptransect analysis methods. Following Young et al. (2019) analysis methods, ringed seal densities were calculated for the 2014 surveys using visual strip-transect analysis.

A comparison of 2014 surveys with subsequent 2016 surveys flown in ES stratum showed similar density estimates (Table 10). A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (0.60 seals/km², CV = 0.07) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.52 seals/km², CV = 0.10) indicated no statistically significant difference in ringed seal densities (z-score = 1.25, p = 0.21). In the MI stratum ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2014 compared to subsequent surveys in 2016 (Table 10). A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (1.45 seals/km², CV = 0.14) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.31 seals/km², CV = 0.17) indicated statistically significant higher density observed in 2014 in the MI stratum (t-test = 5.49, p < 0.001).

Strip-transect densities were calculated for ringed seal baseline surveys flown in the MI stratum in 2007 and 2008 (Baffinland 2012). In 2007, ringed seal densities of 0.18 seals/km² in Koluktoo Bay and 0.30 seals/km² in North Milne Inlet were calculated in the MI stratum (Baffinland 2012). The combined estimate (Koluktoo Bay/North Milne Inlet) for the MI stratum in 2007 was 0.27 seals/km². In 2008, ringed seal densities of 2.16 seals/km² in Koluktoo Bay and 1.27 seals/km² in North Milne Inlet were calculated in the MI enlet were calculated in the MI stratum (Baffinland 2012). The combined estimate (Koluktoo Bay/North Milne Inlet were calculated in the MI stratum (Baffinland 2012). The combined estimate (Koluktoo Bay/North Milne Inlet) for the MI stratum (Baffinland 2012). The

The MI stratum appeared to fluctuate in ring seal density annually. Ringed seal surveys flown in 2008 and 2014 saw high densities of ringed seal in MI (1.44 seals/km² and 1.45 seals/km², respectively; Baffinland 2012) whereas ringed seal surveys flown in 2007 and 2016 observed lower densities of ringed seal in MI (0.27 seals/km² and 0.31 seals/km², respectively; Baffinland 2012; Young et al. 2019). Based on visual striptransect surveys flown in 2007, 2008, 2014, and 2016, ringed seal densities appeared to be stable in ES and variable in MI strata.

Survey and data recording procedures for the ringed seal surveys differed in all four years (2007, 2008, 2014, and 2016) and may contribute to some of the differences observed in the densities. In 2007, ringed seal surveys were conducted from a helicopter (Eurocopter A Star), at an altitude of 150 m above sea level (asl) and a ground speed of 220 km/h (Baffinland 2012). The survey strip width was 400 m on each side of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the aircraft. In 2008, surveys were conducted from a fixed-wing aircraft (Twin Otter DHC-6), at an altitude of 91 m asl and at a ground speed of 220 km/h (Baffinland 2012). The survey strip width was 297 m on each side of the aircraft, offset 69 m from the centreline of the Twin Otter. In 2014, surveys were conducted from a fixed-wing aircraft (Twin Otter DHC-6), at an altitude of 91 m asl and at a ground speed of 220 km/h (Baffinland 2012). The survey strip width was 297 m on each side of the aircraft, offset 69 m from the centreline of the Twin Otter. In 2014, surveys were conducted from a fixed-wing aircraft (Twin Otter DHC-6), at an altitude of 91 m asl and at a ground speed of 220 km/h. The survey strip width was 300 m on each side of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the Twin Otter. In 2016, a fixed-wing aircraft (Twin Otter DHC-6) was used, and surveys were conducted at an altitude of 305 m asl and at a ground speed of 220 km/h (Young et al. 2019). The survey strip width was 300 m on each side of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of 305 m asl and at a ground speed of 220 km/h (Young et al. 2019). The survey strip width was 300 m on each side of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the aircraft, offset 100 m from the centreline of the aircraft, offset 100

3.5.2 Line-Transect Densities

High-level Summary: Results from the 2014 aerial survey indicated that ringed seal densities decreased in ES and MI strata in 2016, although results from the 2021 aerial survey indicated that ringed seal densities have remained stable in ES and MI stratum since 2014.

Young et al. (2019) calculated ringed seal densities for surveys flown in the RSA in 2016 using a combination of infrared and observer data analyzed using distance analysis. Ringed seal densities were calculated for the 2014 surveys using distance analysis from a double observer platform.

Survey and distance analysis procedures for the ringed seal surveys differed between 2014 and 2016, and may have contributed to some of the differences observed in the densities. In 2014, surveys were conducted from a fixed-wing aircraft (Twin Otter DHC-6), at an altitude of 91 m asl and at a ground speed of 220 km/h. Line-transect analysis used the Mark-Recapture Distance Sampling (MRDS) analysis package, which uses double observer platform to account for observer missed seal sightings. In 2016, a fixed-wing aircraft (Twin Otter DHC-6) was used, and surveys were conducted at an altitude of 305 m asl and at a ground speed of 220 km/h. The 2016 survey did not use a double-observer platform with four observers, instead it used a combination of infrared data (0-125 m from track-line) and observer data (125-800 m from track-line) and analyzed as a line-transect survey.

In the ES stratum, ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2014 (ranged from 1.07 to 1.27 seals/km²) compared to 2016 (ranged from 0.57 to 0.79 seals/km²) surveys. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.09) with the highest estimate in 2016 (0.79 seals/km², CV = 0.11) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2014 in the ES stratum (t-test = 3.36, p = 0.004). Similarly, in the MI stratum ringed seal densities appeared higher in 2014 (ranged from 1.14 to 2.13 seals/km²) compared to 2016 (ranged from 0.93 to 1.27 seals/km²) surveys. A comparison of the highest estimate in 2014 (2.13 seals/km², CV = 0.12) with the highest estimate in 2016 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.16) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2016 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.16) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2016 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.16) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2016 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.16) indicated a statistically significantly higher ringed seal density observed in 2014 in the MI stratum (t-test = 2.66, p = 0.013).

Young et al. (2019) compared infrared strip-transect analysis with line-transect distance analysis on the same dataset using a pairwise comparison and found they produced densities that were not statistically different (P = 1.000). Although, both methods produced density estimates that were, on average, approximately 2–3 times greater than the observer strip-transect method (infrared: P = 0.023; distance: P = 0.012). Comparing 2021 infrared strip-transect densities (1.04 seals/km² in ES and 2.84 seals/km² in MI) to 2014 line-transect distance analysis densities (1.27 seals/km² in ES and 2.13 seals/km² in MI), no statistical difference was observed between the two years (t-test = 1.63, p = 0.013 and t-test = 1.44, p = 0.017, respectively). These results indicated that ringed seal densities have not changed in the RSA since the onset of shipping operations in 2015, and since Project icebreaking activities began in the shoulder seasons in 2018. However, there were annual fluctuations in ringed seal densities primarily in the MI stratum.

4.0 SUMMARY

Ringed seal densities fluctuated in the MI stratum with lower densities observed in 2007 and 2016 and higher densities observed in 2008, 2014, and 2021 (Table 11). Statistically significant differences were observed between the high-density years in 2014 and 2021 and the low-density year in 2016. Comparison of a baseline density in 2014 of 2.13 seals/km² to a current density in 2021 of 2.84 seals/km², identified no statistical difference between the two years (t-test = 1.44, p = 0.017). In the ES stratum, ringed seal densities were stable in three (2014, 2016, 2021) of the four years surveyed, with lower densities observed in 2017 (Table 11; Figure 27). A comparison in the ES stratum of the highest estimate in 2021 (1.04 seals/km², CV = 0.08) with the highest estimates in 2016 (0.92 seals/km², CV = 0.09) indicated no statistically significant difference in density estimates in 2021 (1.04 seals/km², CV = 0.09) indicated no statistically significant difference in density estimates in 2021 (1.04 seals/km², CV = 0.09) with the highest estimate in 2014 (1.27 seals/km², CV = 0.09) indicated no statistically significant difference in density estimates in ES stratum (t-test = 1.63, p = 0.013). In the NB stratum, ringed seal densities were stable in two (2016, 2021) of the three years surveyed, with lower densities observed in 2017 (Table 11; Figure 27). A comparison in the NB stratum of the highest estimate in 2017 (Table 11; Figure 27). A comparison in the NB stratum of the highest estimate in 2017 (Table 11; Figure 27). A comparison in the NB stratum of the highest estimate in 2021 (1.04 seals/km², CV = 0.09) indicated no statistically significant difference in density estimates in ES stratum (t-test = 1.63, p = 0.013). In the NB stratum, ringed seal densities were stable in two (2016, 2021) of the three years surveyed, with lower densities observed in 2017 (Table 11; Figure 27). A comparison in the NB stratum of the highest estimate in 2021 (0.83 seals/km², CV = 0.12) with the highest estimate in

The results of the 2021 RSASP showed ringed seal densities have overall remained stable since the onset of shipping operations in 2015, and since Project icebreaking activities began in the shoulder seasons in 2018. These results confirmed that mitigation measures were functioning as intended and that Project activities are being managed in a way that has not adversely affected ringed seals. Given that no changes to icebreaking operations are proposed within Baffinland's Phase 2 Proposal, these results also lend confidence to predictions made in Phase 2 impact assessment, which states that effects on ringed seal as a result of the Project would not result in population level effects (Golder 2018).

				Co	omparable Ar			
Stratum ^a	Year	Visual Strip	-Transect	FLIR Strip-	Transect	Distance An	alysis	Source
		Density	CV	Density	CV	Density	CV	
	2007 ^b	0.27	—	—	—	—	—	Baffinland 2012
	2008 ^b	1.44	—	—	—	—	—	Baffinland 2012
MI	2014	1.45	0.14	—	—	2.13	0.12	Current Study
	2016	0.31	0.17	1.40	0.12	1.27	0.16	Young et al. 2019
	2021	—	—	2.84	0.15	—	—	Current Study
	2014	0.60	0.07	-	—	1.27	0.09	Current Study
EQ	2016	0.52	0.1	0.92	0.09	0.79	0.11	Young et al. 2019
ES	2017 ^b	—	—	0.45	0.15	-	—	Young et al. 2019
	2021	—	—	1.04	0.08	_	—	Current Study
	2016	0.17	0.21	0.74	0.43	0.77	0.36	Young et al. 2019
NB	2017 ^b	—	—	0.24	0.28	—	—	Young et al. 2019
	2021	—	—	0.83	0.12	—	—	Current Study
TS	2021	—	—	1.27	0.46	_	—	Current Study

Table 11: Ringed seal density and CV from surveys flown in the RSA, during spring of 2007, 2008, 2014, 2016, 2017, and 2021. Highest or only density for each year are presented. Text in bold from current study.

^a ES=Eclipse Sound, MI=Milne Inlet, TS=Tremblay Sound, NB=Navy Board Inlet

^b Only one survey flown in that year





Figure 27: Ringed seal density trend over time (2014 to 2021) for FLIR strip-transect (circle symbol) and distance analysis (square symbol). Trend line (dotted line) represent ringed seal density over an eight-year span. ES=Eclipse Sound (orange), MI=Milne Inlet (blue), NB=Navy Board Inlet (grey).



The 2021 RSASP addressed Project Certificate No. 005 Terms and Conditions 101, 109, 119, and 126, and demonstrated how Project Certificate Terms and Conditions were met through the 2021 RSASP (Table 12).

Table 12: NIRD Project Certificate No. 005 Terms and Conditions relevant to the 2021 RSAS	Table	212: NIRB	Project	Certificate N	o. 005	Terms and	d Conditions	relevant to	o the	2021	RSAS	P.
---	-------	-----------	---------	---------------	--------	-----------	--------------	-------------	-------	------	------	----

Project Certificate Terms and Conditions	Condition / Evidence of Conditions Met
101	 Efforts to involve Inuit in monitoring studies at all levels: Inuit involvement was not possible for the 2021 season due to the COVID-19 global pandemic and operational restrictions. Monitoring protocols that are responsive to Inuit concerns: Aerial surveys allow for evaluation of ringed seal large-scale displacement effects, abandonment of the RSA, moderate to large changes in density estimates. Schedule for periodic aerial surveys as recommended by the MEWG: Aerial surveys were conducted in 2021. The results of the 2021 RSASP will be presented to the MHTO and the community of Pond Inlet once COVID-19 restrictions allow it.
109	 Conduct a monitoring program to confirm the predictions in the FEIS: Aerial survey confirmed FEIS prediction that no large-scale displacement or abandonment of the RSA has occurred.
119	Monitor ringed seal birth lair abundance and distribution for at least two years prior to the start of ice-breaking to develop a baseline, with continue monitoring over the life-time of the project. Ringed seal hotspots show areas of high ringed seal densities in the RSA
126	 Design monitoring program to ensure that local users can assist with monitoring and evaluating potential impacts: Inuit involvement was not possible for the 2021 season due to the COVID-19 global pandemic and operational restrictions. The results of the 2021 RSASP will be presented to the MHTO and the community of Pond Inlet once COVID-19 restrictions allow it.

Mitigation measures in place for ringed seal have been carefully developed to completely avoid shipping impacts on ringed seal during periods when they are "grouped up" (i.e., the winter and spring) when group behaviour is critical to reproductive activities such as mating. The timing of the shipping season protects seals during the basking period, and aims to avoid impacts on seals at the time when they start maintaining breathing holes during initial ice freeze-up.

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

The following recommendations should be considered with respect to future ringed seal aerial survey monitoring program:

 Ringed seal surveys are not recommended in 2022 for the Eclipse Sound area based on the current survey results.

6.0 CLOSURE

We trust that this report meets your immediate requirements. If you have any questions regarding the content of this report, please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned.

Golder Associates Ltd.

2

Tannis Thomas, MSc Marine Biologist

Patrick Abgrall, PhD Senior Marine Biologist

TT/MF/PA/BD/lih

te Z

Mitch Firman, BSc *Wildlife Biologist*

B. Netraty

Bart DeFreitas, MSc, RPBio, PMP *Principal, Senior Biologist*

Golder and the G logo are trademarks of Golder Associates Corporation

https://golderassociates.sharepoint.com/sites/11206g/technical/41000 2021 seal aerial survey program/07 deliverables/2021 rsasp report/rev0 for wp/1663724-351-r-revb-41000 2021 rsasp 31aug_22 for wp.docx



7.0 REFERENCES

- Asselin, N.C. and P.R. Richard, 2011. Results of narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*) aerial surveys in Admiralty Inlet, August 2010. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2011/065. iv + 26 p.
- Baffinland, 2010. Mary River Project: Environmental Impact Statement, December 2010. Appendix 8A-2: Marine Mammal Baseline 2007-2010. Prepared by LGL Ltd., Toronto, Ontario and North/South Consultants Inc., Winnipeg, Manitoba, for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario.
- Baffinland. 2012. Mary River Project Final Environmental Impact Statement.
- Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D., Burnham, K., Laake, J., Borchers, D., & Thomas, L. 2001. Introduction to distance sampling: estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford University Press.
- Buckland, S. T., R. E. Russell, B. G. Dickson, V. A. Saab, D. N. Gorman, and W. M. Block. 2009. Analysing designed experiments in distance sampling. Journal of Agricultural, Biological and Environmental Statistics. 14:432-442.
- Chambellant, M., Stirling, I., Gough, W.A., and Ferguson, S.H. 2012a. Temporal variations in Hudson Bay ringed seal (*Phoca hispida*) life-history parameters in relation to environment. J. Mammal. 93: 267-281.
- Chambellant, M., N. J. Lunn, and S. H. Ferguson. 2012b. Temporal variation in distribution and density of iceobligated seals in western Hudson Bay, Canada. Polar Biology 35:1105–1117.
- COSEWIC. 2019. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Ringed Seal *Pusa hispida* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xii + 82 pp. (https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/species-risk-public-registry.html)
- Doniol-Valcroze, T, Gosselin, J.F., Pike, D., Lawson, J., Asselin, N., Hedges, K., and S. Ferguson. 2015. Abundance estimates of narwhal stocks in the Canadian High Arctic in 2013. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2015/060. v + 36 p.
- ERM Consultants Canada Ltd. (ERM) 2019. Community Risk Assessment Workshops: Final Report. ERM Report No. 0489284-0004. Prepared by ERM Consultants Canada Ltd., Vancouver, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 34 p. + appendices.
- ESRI 2019. ArcMap Version 10.7.1. Redlands, CA, USA.
- Fewster, R.M., S.T. Buckland, K.P. Burnham, D.L. Borchers, P.E. Jupp, J.L. Laake, and L. Thomas. 2009. Estimating the encounter rate variance in distance sampling. Biometrics 65(1): 225–236.
- Finley, K. J. 1979. Haul-out behaviour and densities of ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*) in the Barrow Strait area, N.W.T. Can. J. Zool. 57, 1985-1997.
- Finley, K. J., G. W. Miller, R. A. Davis, and W. R. Koski. 1983. A distinctive large breeding population of ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*) inhabiting the Baffin Bay pack ice. Arctic 36:162–173.
- Forney, K. A. 2000. Environmental models of cetacean abundance: Reducing uncertainty in population trends. Conservation Biology, 14(5), 1271–1286. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2000.99412.x

- Furgal C. M., Innes S., and Kovacks K. M. 2002. Inuit spring hunting techniques and local knowledge of the ringed seal in Arctic Bay (Ikpiarjuk), Nunavut. Polar Research, 21:1, 1-16, DOI: 10.3402/polar.v21i1.6470.
- Hammill, M. O., and T. G. Smith. 1989. Factors affecting the distribution and abundance of ringed seal structures in Barrow Strait, Northwest Territories. Canadian Journal of Zoology 67:2212–2219.
- Hammill, M.O., Lydersen, C., Ryg, M., and Smith, T.G. 1991. Lactation in the ringed seal (*Phoca hispida*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 48:2471-2476.
- Hedley, S. L., & Buckland, S. T. 2004. Spatial models for line transect sampling. Journal of Agricultural, Biological and Environmental Statistics, 9, 181–199. https://doi.org/10.1198/1085711043578
- Jason Prno Consulting Services Ltd (JPCS). 2017. *Technical Supporting Document (TSD) No. 03: Results of Community Workshops Conducted for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation's* Phase 2 Proposal. Report submitted to Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation. January 2017.
- Kelly, B. P., O.H. Badajos, M. Kunnasranta, J.R. Moran, M. Martinez-Bakker, D. Wartzok, and P. Boveng. 2010. Seasonal home ranges and fidelity to breeding sites among ringed seals. Polar Biology 33:1095–1109.
- Kingsley, M. C. S. 1990. Status of the ringed seal, Phoca hispida, in Canada. Can. Field. Nat. 104, 139-145.
- Kingsley, M. C. S. 1998. The numbers of ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*) in Baffin Bay and associated waters, Pages 181–196 in M. P. Heide-Jørgensen, and C. Lydersen, eds., NAMMCO Scientific Publications. Tromso, Norway, North Atlantic Marine Mammal Commission.
- Kingsley, M. C. S., and G. E. J. Smith. 1981. Analysis of data arising from systematic transect surveys. Pages 40– 48 in F. L. Miller and A. Gunn, editors. Symposium on census and inventory methods for populations and habitats. Forest, Wildlife and Range Experiment Station Contribution No. 217, University of Idaho, Moscow, USA.
- Laake, J. L., D. Borchers, L. Thomas, D. Miller, and J. Bishop. 2018. Mrds:Mark-recapture distance sampling. R package version 2.2.0.
- Laake, J. L., J. Calambokidis, S. D. Osmek, and D. J. Rugh. 1997. Probability of detecting harbor porpoise from aerial surveys: estimating g(0). Journal of Wildlife Management. 61(1): 63-75.
- Laake, J. L., and D. L. Borchers. 2004. Methods for incomplete detection at distance zero. In Advanced Distance Sampling. Oxford University Press. Pp. 108-189.
- Lydersen, C. 1995. Energetics of pregnancy, lactation and neonatal development in ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*). Pp. 319–327 in Whales, seals, fish and man (A. S. Blix, L. Walloe, and O. Ultang, eds.). Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- Marra, G. and S.N. Wood. 2011. Practical variable selection for generalized additive models. Computational Statistics & Data Analysis 55:2372-2387.
- Marsh, H., and D. F. Sinclar. 1989. Correcting for visibility bias in strip transect aerial surveys of aquatic fauna. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 53(4): 1017-1024.
- Marques, T. Thomas, L., Fancy, S.G., Buckland, S.T., and Handel, C.M. 2007. Improving estimates of bird density using multiple-covariate distance sampling. The Auk. 124: 1229–1243.

- McLaren, I. A. 1958. The biology of the ringed seal (*Phoca hispida* Schreber) in the eastern Canadian Arctic. Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Bulletin 118:1–97.
- Miller, D.L. 2021. Distance: Distance sampling detection function and abundance estimation. R package version 1.0.4.
- Miller, D.L., Rexstad, E., Burt, L., Bravington, M.V. and S. Hedley. 2021. dsm: Density surface modelling of line transect data. R package version 2.3.1.
- Qikiqtani Inuit Association (QIA) 2019. Tusaqtavut for Phase 2 Application of the Mary River Project. 172 p.
- R Core Team. 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Richard, P., J.L. Laake, R.C. Hobbs, M.P. Heide-Jørgensen, N.C. Asselin and H. Cleator. 2010. Baffin Bay narwhal population distribution and numbers: Aerial surveys in the Canadian High Arctic, 2002-04. Arctic. 63: 85-99.
- Seber, G. 1982. The Estimation of Animal Abundance and Related Parameters, Macmillan Publishing Co. Inc., New York. 654 p.
- Smith, T. G. 1973a. Population dynamics of the ringed seal in the Canadian eastern Arctic. Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Bulletin 181:1–55.
- Smith, T. G. 1973b. Management research on the Eskimo's ringed seal. Can. Geogr. J. 86, 118-125.
- Smith, T. G. 1987. The ringed seal, *Phoca hispida*, of the Canadian western Arctic. Canadian Bulletin of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 216:1–81.
- Smith, T. G., and M. O. Hammill. 1981. Ecology of the ringed seal, *Phoca hispida*, in its fast ice breeding habitat. Canadian Journal of Zoology 59:966–981
- Smith, T. G., and Stirling, I. 1975. The breeding habitat of the ringed seal (*Phoca hispida*). The birth lair and associated structures. Can. J. Zool. 53, 1297-1305.
- Wood, S. N. 2006. Generalized Additive Models: An Introduction with R. Second Edition. Boca Raton: Chapman and Hall/CRC. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420010404
- Wood, S. N., Bravington, M. V., & Hedley, S. L. 2008. Soap Film Smoothing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology), 70(5), 931–955. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9868.2008.00665.x
- Wood, S. 2021. mgcv: Generalized additive (mixed) models. R package version 1.8-38.
- Young, B. G., S. H. Ferguson, and N. J. Lunn. 2015. Variation in ringed seal density and abundance in western Hudson Bay estimated from aerial surveys, 1995 to 2013. Arctic 68:301–309.
- Young, B.G., D.J. Yurkowski, J.B. Dunn, and S.H. Ferguson. 2019. Comparing infrared imagery to traditional methods for estimating ringed seal density. Wildlife Society Bulletin; DOI: 10.1002/wsb.958

- Yurkowski, D.J., B.G. Young, J.B. Dunn, and S.H. Ferguson. 2018. Spring distribution of ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) in Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet, Nunavut: implications for potential ice-breaking activities. Arctic Science https://doi.org/10.1139/as-2018-0020.
- Zoom Earth. 2021. Satellite photos of Eclipse Sound region taken between June 12 and 14, 2021. Accessed December 2021, available at https://zoom.earth

APPENDIX A

Density Surface Modelling Diagnostics





Figure A-1: Example of covariate "maximum depth", computed for the study area. Red circles: sightings of ringed seals.



Figure A- 2: Example of covariate "mean depth", computed for the study area. Red circles: sightings of ringed seals.



Figure A- 3: Example of covariate "minimum depth", computed for the study area. Red circles: sightings of ringed seals.



Figure A- 4: Example of covariate "mean slope", computed for the study area. Red circles: sightings of ringed seals.




Figure A- 5: Example of covariate "distance from Navy Board Inlet floe edge", computed for the study area. Red circles: sightings of ringed seals.





Figure A- 6: Example of covariate "distance from Pond Inlet floe edge", computed for the study area. Red circles: sightings of ringed seals.



Figure A- 7: Example of covariate "distance from shore", computed for the study area. Red circles: sightings of ringed seals.





Figure A- 8: Soap film smoother of xy coordinates (edf 15.01)





Figure A-9: Tensor smooth of distance from shore and maximum depth (edf 2.72)



9



Figure A-10: Diagnostic plots of fitted GAM model



Figure A-11: Randomized quantile residuals vs linear predictor



Figure A-12: Autocorrelation in residuals for transect segments



AND								
	LEGEND							
	•	COMMUNIT	Υ					
	s ★	MILNE POF	۲T					
	82000		T TOTE ROAD					
	. – .							
				INEA BOUNL				
	UNCER		CEDICTION SUP	REACE OF D	ENSITY SURFA	CE MODEL		
		≤ 0.20						
		> 0.20 AND	≤ 0.25					
		> 0.25 AND	≤ 0.30					
ΪT		> 0.30 AND	≤ 0.55					
30		> 0.35 AND	≤ 0.40					
		> 0.40 AND	≤ 0.45					
EC		> 0.45 AND	≤ 0.50					
		> 0.50 AND	≤ 0.55					
		> 0.55 AND	≤ 0.60					
		> 0.60 AND	≤ 0.65					
		> 0.65 AND	≤ 0.70					
		> 0.70 AND	≤ 0.75					
		> 0.75						
		INSUFFICIE	ΝΤ ΠΔΤΔ					
	_							
	00							
	œ							
			0		25	50		
~			0		25	50		
~~	PEFEPE	NCE(S)	0		25	50 ILOMETRES		
~	REFERE MILNE P	NCE(S)	0 1:1,000,000 3TRUCTURE DA		25 K H, JANUARY 25	50 IILOMETRES	EVED FROM	KNIGHT
	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PLACE,	NCE(S) 'ORT INFRAS) LTD. FULCI AND PROVIN	0 1:1,000,000 3TRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN	ITA BY HATC	25 K H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20	50 IILOMETRES , 2017, RETRI 35GOGRATIS, (EVED FROM RAPHY, POP DEPARTMI	KNIGHT JLATED NT OF
•	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PLACE., NATURA PROJEC	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULCI AND PROVIN LL RESOURC	0 1:1,000,000 3TRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN ES CANADA. A CONE 17. DATU	TTA BY HATC IAGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F	25 K H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM (ESERVED.	50 IILOMETRES , 2017, RETRI 17. HYDROGF GEOGRATIS, (EVED FROM RAPHY, POP DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
•••	REFERE MILNE P PIESOL PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS 0 LTD, FULC AND PROVIN L RESOURC TION: UTM 2	0 1:1,000,000 1TRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN CIAL BOUNDAI ES CANADA. AI 20NE 17 DATU	TTA BY HATC TA BY HATC AGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM O YESERVED.	50 ILOMETRES , 2017, RETRI 17. HYDROGF GEOGRATIS, (EVED FROM RAPHY, POP DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLD PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS J LTD. FULCI AND PROVIN L RESOURC TION: UTM 2 INLAND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN ICIAL BOUNDAR ES CANADA. AI 20NE 17 DATU IRON MINI	TTA BY HATC AGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F M: NAD 83 ES COR	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM O RESERVED.	50 JILOMETRES , 2017, RETRI J. HYDROGF GEOGRATIS, (EVED FROM RAPHY, POP DEPARTM	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
•••	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLL PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULCI AND PROVIN L RESOURC TION: UTM 2 INLAND	0 1:1,000,000 3TRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN ICIAL BOUNDAI ES CANADA. AI 20NE 17 DATU IRON MINI	TTA BY HATC IAGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F M: NAD 83 ES COR	25 IH, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM O RESERVED. PORATION	50 JILOMETRES 5, 2017, RETRI 5, 2017, RETRI 5, 2017, RETRI 5, 2017, RETRI	EVED FROM RAPHY, POP DEPARTM	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
•	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLL PLACE,, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS OLTD. FULCI AND PROVIN L RESOURC TION: UTM 2 INLAND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN ICIAL BOUNDATA ES CANADA. AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI	TTA BY HATC IAGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83 ES COR	25 IH, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION	50 SILOMETRES 2, 2017, RETRI 3, 2017, RETRI 5, 2017, RETRI 5, 2017, RETRI	EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
•	REFERE MILINE P PIESOLI PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF PROJEC MARY	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS OLTD. FULCI AND PROVIN LI RESOURC TION: UTM 2 INLAND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN ICIAL BOUNDATA ES CANADA. AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT	TTA BY HATC IN AGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83 ES CORI	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION	50 SILOMETRES 2, 2017, RETRI 3, 2017, RETRI 5, 2017, RETRI 5, 2017, RETRI	EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
~	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PLACE,, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF PROJEC MARY 2021	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS LTD. FULCI AND PROVIN L RESOURC TION: UTM 2 INLAND T / RIVER RINGED	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN ICIAL BOUNDATA ES CANADA. AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER	TTA BY HATC INGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83 ES CORI RIAL SUF	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS	50 SILOMETRES 2, 2017, RETRI 3, 2017, RETRI 5EOGRATIS, (EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
~	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF PROJEC MARY 20211 TITLE	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS DID. FULCI AND PROVIN LI RESOURC TION: UTM 2 INLAND T RIVER RINGED	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN ICIAL BOUNDA ISS CANADA. AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER V IN BREED	TTA BY HATC TA BY HATC TA BY HATC RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F M: NAD 83 ES COR RIAL SUF	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS SUBEACE	50 JILOMETRES 3, 2017, RETRI GEOGRATIS, @	EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
	REFERE MILINE P PIESOLI PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF PROJEC MARY 20211 TITLE UNCE SLIPE	INCE(5) ORT INFRAS DITD. FULC AND PROVIN LRESOUR TION: UTM 2 INLAND T RIVER RINGED ERTAINT	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN ICIAL BOUNDAI ISS CANADA. AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER Y IN PRED DEI	ATA BY HATC IAGEMENT S RY DATA OB IM: NAD 83 ES CORI RIAL SUF	25 H. JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS SURFACE	50 SILOMETRES 5, 2017, RETRI SEOGRATIS, @ OF DENS	EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF PROJEC MARY 2021 TITLE UNCE SURF CONSUL	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC AND PROVIN L RESOUR TION: UTM 2 INLAND T RIVER RINGED INT ACE MO TANT	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAA ICAL BOUNDAT IES CANADA. AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER Y IN PRED IDEL	ATA BY HATC IAGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83 ES CORI RIAL SUF	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS SURFACE YYYY-MM-DD	50 SILOMETRES 3, 2017, RETRI 17. HYDROGF GEOGRATIS, (OF DENS 2022-	EVED FROM RAPHY, POP DEPARTME DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED NT OF
	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF PROJEC MARY 2021 TITLE UNCE SURF CONSUL	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULCI AND PROVIN LI RESOURD TION: UTM 2 INLAND T (RIVER RINGED ERTAINT ACE MO TANT	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAA ICIAL BOUNDATA IES CANADA. AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER Y IN PRED DEL	ATA BY HATC JAGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83 ES CORI RIAL SUF	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS SURFACE YYYY-MM-DD DESIGNED	50 SILOMETRES 3, 2017, RETRI 17. HYDROGF GEOGRATIS, (OF DENS 2022- ME	EVED FROM RAPHY, POP DEPARTME DEPARTME SITY 06-21	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
	REFERE MILNE PPIESOLI PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF PROJEC MARY 20211 TITLE UNCE SURF CONSUL	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULCI AND PROVIN LI RESOUVIN INLAND INLAND T (RIVER RINGED ERTAINT ACE MO TANT	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN IES CANADA. AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER Y IN PRED DEL	ATA BY HATC IAGEMENT S IN DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83 ES CORI RIAL SUF	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS SURFACE YYYY-MM-DD DESIGNED DESIGNED	50 3100METRES 3, 2017, RETRI 17. HYDROGF 3EOGRATIS, (OF DENS 2022- MF 4.10	EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PROJEC CLIENT BAFF BAFF 2021 TITLE UNCE SURF CONSUL	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULCI AND PROVIN L RESOURCI TION: UTM 2 INLAND T (RIVER RINGED ERTAINT ACE MO TANT	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN IES CANADA, AI ZONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER Y IN PRED DEL	ATA BY HATC IAGEMENT S IN DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83 ES CORI RIAL SUF	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS SURFACE YYYY-MM-DD DESIGNED REPARED DESIGNED	50 3100METRES 3, 2017, RETRI 17. HYDROGF 3EOGRATIS, (0 0F DENS 2022- MF AJA 77	EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME DEPARTME	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF BAFF PROJEC MARY 2021 TITLE UNCE SURF CONSUL	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS DITD. FULCI AND PROVIN I RESOURC TION: UTM 2 INLAND T (RIVER RINGED ERTAINT ACE MO TANT	0 3TRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAD IES CANADA. AI 2ONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER Y IN PRED DEL	ATA BY HATC IAGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F IM: NAD 83 ES CORI RIAL SUF	25 H. JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS SURFACE YYYY-MM-DD DESIGNED PREPARED REVIEWED NDDDO (52)	50 SILOMETRES 2017, RETRI 17. HYDROGF SEOGRATIS, (C OF DENS 2022- MF AJA TT TT	EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME DEPARTME SITY 06-21	KNIGHT JLATED INT OF
	REFERE MILNE P PIESOLI PLACE, NATURA PROJEC CLIENT BAFF PROJEC MARY 2021 TITLE UNCE SURF CONSUL	INCE(S) ORT INFRAS DITD, FULCI AND PROVIN IRESOURC TION: UTM 2 INLAND T T T T RINGED ERTAINT ACE MO TANT	0 3TRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN IES CANADA. AI 2ONE 17 DATU IRON MINI PROJECT SEAL AER Y IN PRED DEL	ATA BY HATC JAGEMENT S RY DATA OB LL RIGHTS F M: NAD 83 ES CORI AIAL SUF	25 H, JANUARY 25 SITE MAY 19, 20 TAINED FROM C RESERVED. PORATION RVEYS SURFACE YYYY-MM-DD DESIGNED PREPARED REVIEWED NPPROVED	50 	EVED FROM RAPHY, POPI DEPARTME DEPARTME SITTY 06-21	

APPENDIX B

Distance Sampling and Mark-Recapture Models



Table B-1: Ringed Seal Distance Sampling and Mark-Recapture Models

Distance Sampling (all top models included gamma key function and series expansion using cosine orders 4 and 5)		Mark-Recapt	Mark-Recapture	
AIC	Model ¹	AIC	Model ¹	
29672.96	~ObsPair + CloudCover:Sightability	4457.861	~distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform:Sightability	
29673.85	~ObsPair + CloudCover:Sightability + PercMelt:PercDeform	4460.542	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + Sightability + size	
29675.04	~ObsPair + CloudCover	4460.705	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + IceDeform + Sightability + size	
29675.35	~ObsPair + CloudCover + PercDeform	4461.104	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + Sightability + size	
29675.97	~ObsPair + CloudCover + Sightability	4461.278	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform + size	
29676.94	~ObsPair + CloudCover:IceType	4461.505	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform + Sightability	
29677.01	~ObsPair + CloudCover + IceType	4461.904	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform:IceType + size	
29677.01	~ObsPair + CloudCover + Sightability + PercMelt:PercDeform	4462.139	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform	
29681.47	~ObsPair + CloudCover:PercDeform	4462.278	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + CloudCover + PercDeform + size	
29682.26	~ObsPair + CloudCover:PercDeform + Glare	4462.957	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform:IceType	
29682.59	~ObsPair + Side:CloudCover:PercDeform	4462.963	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform + IceType + size	



Distance Sampling (all top models included gamma key function and series expansion using cosine orders 4 and 5)		Mark-Recapture	
AIC	Model ¹	AIC	Model ¹
29682.94	~ObsPair + PercMelt:Sightability	4463.084	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + CloudCover + PercDeform
29683.46	~ObsPair + CloudCover:PercDeform + IceType	4463.176	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + CloudCover:PercDeform + size
29683.77	~ObsPair	4463.199	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform + PerIce + size
29684.15	~ObsPair + PercMelt:PercIce	4463.275	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercMelt + PercDeform + size
29684.25	~ObsPair + CloudCover:PercDeform + Glare + IceType	4463.791	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + CloudCover:PercDeform + Glare + size
29684.32	~ObsPair + PercMelt:PercDeform	4463.854	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform + IceType
29684.44	~ObsPair + CloudCover:PercIce	4463.998	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + CloudCover:PercDeform
29684.46	~ObsPair + PercDeform	4464.038	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercDeform + PercIce
29684.67	~ObsPair + Glare	4464.13	~ distance:obsrv:ObsPair + ObsPair + PercMelt + PercDeform

1) CloudCover = percent cloud cover, distance = horizontal distance, Glare = glare intensity, IceType = ice type, ObsPair = pairing of individual observers, obsrv = primary/secondary observer, PercDeform = percent ice deformation, PercIce = percent ice cover, PercMelt = percent ice melt, Sightability = sighting conditions, Side = side of aircraft, size = group size.



APPENDIX C

Response to MEWG Comments



Baffinland

Baffinland Mary River Project Report Working Group Comment Form

Reviewer Agency/Organization:	DFO
Reviewers:	Marianne Marcoux, Kimberly Howland, Joclyn Paulic, Daniel Coombs, Edyta Ratajczyk
Document(s) Reviewed:	2021 Ringed Seal Aerial Survey
Date Review Completed	

Comment No.:	DFO-11
Section Reference:	4.0 Summary
Comment:	

Issue:

The conclusion "effects on ringed seal as a result of the Project would not result in population effects" is not supported by the data on ringed seal densities observed in June by aerial surveys methodology. The movements and immigration/emigration of seals into and out of the study area would be required in order to assess this assertion since this region may be a sink with ringed seals continuing to re-population the area despite adverse effects of the shipping activity.

Recommendation:

Further, as population density is likely a lagging indicator of population health, DFO recommends other indicators such as body condition indices (e.g., seasonal fat) and other demographic (e.g., reproductive success) that would potentially provide early indications of adverse effects on ringed seals.

NOTE:

The final recommendation does not fully satisfy TC119, as it states the baseline should inform the continued monitoring for life span of the project. Continued engagement with the MEWG to determine future monitoring and should address aspects such as condition, and spatial migration.

Baffinland Response:

We acknowledge DFO's comment but are of the opinion that seal body condition (i.e., fat layer) and reproductive success are not appropriate indicators for testing impact predictions related to Project shipping effects on ringed seal. Research conducted by DFO (Ferguson 2017) has demonstrated that declining ringed seal body condition is concurrent with sea-ice decline, one of the many consequences of climate change in the Canadian Arctic. Specifically, the study documents a relationship between the 2010



climatic event (i.e., warming event resulting in the earliest spring breakup and the latest ice formation on record) and ringed seal demographic changes, as body conditions were reduced, seals were stressed, and ovulation in seals decreased, leading to fewer pups in the following years. Arctic cod, which are an important component of ringed seal diet during early spring, are also thought be declining in numbers due to the increased length of the open water season associated with climate change. Although body condition is a potentially useful measurement of health, observed changes in body condition may be the result of a change in local and regional environmental conditions rather than a result of exposure to shipping (i.e., noise disturbance) (Booth et al. 2020), and therefore are not ideal indicators for evaluating for potential Project-induced effects as predicted in the impact assessment. The other constraining issue is that there is no existing reliable baseline for either of the indicators suggested by DFO. The Mary River Project is currently in its seventh year of shipping in the RSA, so there is no opportunity at this stage of the Project to collect additional baseline data (given that the Project is currently operational).

The relevant monitoring objective stated in TC119 is as follows: "The Proponent shall, in conjunction with the Marine Environment Working Group, monitor ringed seal birth lair abundance and distribution for at least two years prior to the start of icebreaking to develop a baseline, with continued monitoring over the life of the Project as necessary to test the accuracy of the impact predictions and determine if mitigation is needed." Ringed seal density estimates in the RSA collected in 2016 and 2017 (Young et al. 2019 provide two years of collected ringed seal abundance and distribution data prior to the start of icebreaking operations in 2018. An additional year of ringed seal aerial survey data collected by Baffinland in 2021 (which partially meets the requirement for 'continued monitoring' throughout the life of the Project) has allowed for a comparison of seal numbers in the RSA between pre- and post- icebreaking periods. Baffinland will continue to collect ringed seal aerial survey data in the RSA at an appropriate sampling frequency throughout the life of the Project to continue to monitor and evaluate this potential impact pathway for ringed seal.

Booth, C.G., R.R. Sinclair, and J. Harwood. 2020. Methods for monitoring for the population consequences of disturbance in marine mammals: a review. Frontiers in Marine Science. 7: 15.

Ferguson, S.H., B.G. Young, D.J. Yurkowski, R. Anderson, C. Willing, O. Nielsen. 2017. Demographic, ecological, and physiological responses of ringed seals to an abrupt decline in sea ice availability. PeerJ 5:e2957 https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2957.

Young, B.G., D.J. Yurkowski, J.B. Dunn, and S.H. Ferguson. 2019. Comparing infrared imagery to traditional methods for estimating ringed seal density. Wildlife Society Bulletin; DOI: 10.1002/wsb.958.



Baffinland Mary River Project Report Working Group Comment Form

Reviewer Agency/Organization:	QIA
Reviewers:	Jeff W. Higdon, D. Bruce Stewart
Document(s) Reviewed:	Mary River Project 2021 Ringed Seal Serial Survey (file "2021 Ringed Seal Aerial Survey Report Draft for MEWG.pdf") 23 March 2022
Date Review Completed	2022-06-08
Comment No.:	QIA-01
Section Reference:	General (e.g., sections 2.4.4, 2.5.1, 3.4.4.1, 3.5.2)
Comment:	

Throughout the draft document it can be complicated and difficult to identify and assess trends and patterns based on the text. Summary figures (e.g., plotting the various density estimates over time, with different symbols for strip- and line-transect results) would greatly help here. Figures should show the full temporal span of the data, showing trends from 2014 to 2021(rather than comparisons of 2014 and 2016 only, 2016 and 2021 only, etc.).

Baffinland Response:

A summary table is provided in the report in Section 4.0. It provides all density estimates over the full temporal span from 2007 to 2021 from all available data sources and for each stratum. Figure 27 has been added to the report showing various density estimates over time, with different symbols for strip and line transect results.

Comment No.:	QIA-02
Section Reference:	Executive Summary (and s. 4.0, etc.)
Comment:	

A mix of Z- and t-tests were used for density comparisons. What factors were used to decide which test was used?



Baffinland Response:

When dealing with small sample sizes (< 30), it is recommended to use the t-test in place of the Z-score (Buckland et al. 2001). When comparing between years at the region level, sample sizes were sufficient to use the Z-score for comparisons. For strata comparisons, sample sizes were small and therefore a t-test was used.

Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burnham, K.P., Laake, J.L., Borchers, D.L., and L. Thomas. 2001.
Introduction to distance sampling: estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford University Press, Oxford, xv + 432 p.

Comment No.:	QIA-03
Section Reference:	General (e.g., Executive Summary, 2.3.1, 2.4.2
Comment:	

Sea ice conditions (including the amount of ridging and snow cover) can have a significant influence on ringed seal habitat selection, and weather conditions (e.g., temperature, wind speed, cloud cover) can influence haul-out behaviour.

More information on weather and sea ice conditions is needed to interpret any differences in density between surveys and changes in hot spot locations. The information on sighting conditions (section 2.4.2) provides a summary of the overall conditions encountered in each survey, but what is important here is an understanding of how conditions (as model covariates) influence haul out behaviour and resulting density estimates and hot spot identification.

Section 2.3.1 states that air temperature values were obtained Windy.com's European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts model of the surface conditions.

1. What is the temporal resolution of the data?

Sections 2.4.2 and 3.4.2 summarize air temperatures but provide limited information, and none of the models shown in Appendix B includes air temperature.

- 2. Was air temperature included in the analyses as a covariate?
- 3. If it was included, how was it defined (spatial resolution, etc.)?

Section 3.4.3 notes that seal numbers varied between surveys despite being separated by only 72 hours, which highlights the importance of considering weather (cloud cover, air temperature, etc.) as explanatory factors. For snow/ice roughness values, these were subjective estimates (e.g., section 2.3.1).

- 4. Was there any attempt to measure observer variability or determine the level of consistency in assessments from different observers? Ice roughness was included in some of the mark-recapture models (e.g., section 3.4.4.2.1), underscoring its' importance.
- 5. Have Golder and Baffinland considered using satellite-based snow thickness measurements?

See Zhou et al. (2021) for a discussion of snow depth over Arctic sea ice products, and Braakmann-



Folgmann and Donlon (2019) and Lee et al. (2021) for snow depth estimation using satellite radiometer measurements. Finally, lacozza and Ferguson (2004) provide a Canadian Arctic example, where snow on sea ice data were acquired from the AMSR-E sensor onboard the Aqua satellite. There have also been significant recent advances in using satellite products to measure ice roughness and surface topography (e.g., Farrell et al. 2020; Han et al. 2020; Segal et al. 2020, among others) which should be reviewed and evaluated for their usefulness in measuring these parameters.

Braakmann-Folgmann, A. and Donlon, C.: Estimating snow depth on Arctic sea ice using satellite microwave radiometry and a neural network, The Cryosphere, 13, 2421–2438, https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-13-2421-2019, 2019.

Farrell, S.L., Duncan, K., Buckley, E.M., Richter-Menge, J., and Li, R. 2020. Mapping sea ice surface topography in high fidelity with ICESat-2. Geophysical Research Letters 47(21): e2020GL090708.

Han, H., Kim, J.-I., Hyun, C-U., Kim, C.H., Park, J-W., Kwon, Y-J., Lee, S., Lee, S., and Kim, H-C. 2020. Surface roughness signatures of summer arctic snow-covered sea ice in X-band dual-polarimetric SAR. 2020. GIScience & Remote Sensing 57(5): 650-669.

Iacozza, J., and Ferguson, S.H. 2014. Spatio-temporal variability of snow over sea ice in western Hudson Bay, with reference to ringed seal pup survival. Polar Biology 37: 817-832.

Lee, S.-M., Shi,H., Sohn, B.-J., Gasiewski, A.J., Meier, W.N., and Dybkjær, G. 2021. Winter snow depth on Arctic sea ice from satellite radiometer measurements (2003–2020): Regional patterns and trends. Geophysical Research Letters 48(15): e2021GL094541

Segal, R.A., Scharien, R.K., Cafarella, S., and Tedstone, A. 2020. Characterizing winter landfast sea-ice surface roughness in the Canadian Arctic Archipelago using Sentinel-1 synthetic aperture radar and the Multi-angle Imaging SpectroRadiometer. Annals of Glaciology 61(83): 284-298.

Zhou, L., Stroeve, J., Xu, S., Petty, A., Tilling, R., Winstrup, M., Rostosky, P., Lawrence, I. R., Liston, G. E., Ridout, A., Tsamados, M., and Nandan, V. 2021. Inter-comparison of snow depth over Arctic sea ice from reanalysis reconstructions and satellite retrieval, The Cryosphere 15: 345-367.

Baffinland Response:

1. The ECMWF model used for assessing wind speed on Windy.com has a temporal resolution of 3 hours.

2. Air temperature was not included as a covariate in the Density Surface Modelling (DSM). For a covariate to be valid, it has to be available for every cell in the density prediction grid and it was not practical to record air temperature for thousands of locations using this method.

3. As noted above, air temperature was not included as a covariate in the DSM.

4. Only one observer collected environmental data throughout the survey, thus observer variability is not a factor.

5. WSP Golder will evaluate using satellite-based snow thickness measurements in future survey efforts.



Comment No.:	QIA-04
Section Reference:	Executive Summary and Section 4.0
Comment:	

Executive Summary (p. iii) and repeated in Section 4.0 (p. 48) - "These results confirmed that mitigation measures were functioning as intended and that Project activities are being managed in a way that has not adversely affected ringed seals."

Not necessarily, Golder has shown that June density is variable but has remained similar. This is not the same as "no adverse effects", which Inuit have described. What impacts have Inuit observed and reported, and in what seasons?

Baffinland Response:

Through consultation undertaken for the Project, the key potential impacts of the Project on ringed seal that were first identified by Inuit were potential effects of icebreaking on seal dens/pupping and associated impacts on seal harvests on the sea ice. In this case, mitigation was introduced to avoid these critical life cycle periods altogether. For managing potential project effects outside of these critical life cycle periods, other notable mitigation measures have been proposed that are known to be highly effective, such as vessel speed restrictions in the RSA and limited transits during the shoulder seasons. In 2021 icebreaking in the spring was avoided entirely (note the surveys occurred prior to the shipping season, even if icebreaking had occurred).

Since this time, several community members voiced concerns that seal numbers in the Ragged Island anchorage location had decreased and this was thought to be linked to boat anchoring activities in this area. In more recent years, there have been reports by Inuit of lower harvesting success and lower number of ringed seals throughout the general RSA and at different times of the calendar year. Community members have also indicated that seal harvesting was impacted near Pond Inlet in 2020 due to noise disturbances caused by the Small Craft Harbour (SCH) construction in Pond Inlet.

Comment No.:	QIA-05
Section Reference:	Section 1.1 Project Background
Comment:	

The text lists ore production and ore carrier numbers for 2015 and 2017 to 2021. Why is 2016 not included?

Baffinland Response:

2016 has been added to the Project Background section.



Comment No.:	QIA-06
Section Reference:	Section 1.2, Section 4.0
Comment:	

Section 1.2, p. 3 notes that "[t]he RSASP was designed to address PC conditions related to evaluating potential disturbance to ringed seals from shipping activities that may result in changes in animal distribution, abundance, and migratory movements in the RSA."

1. How is the program evaluating migratory movements?

Table 12 (section 4.0, p. 49) summarizes Project Certificate conditions and, for PCC 101 re: monitoring that is "responsive to Inuit concerns", states that surveys allow "for evaluation of ringed seal large-scale displacement effects, abandonment of the RSA, moderate to large changes in density estimates".

- 2. What impacts have Inuit reported with respect to ringed seals, and how does the aerial survey program monitor these impacts and address concerns?
- 3. Are reported impacts limited to spring distribution and abundance and, if not, how are these additional impacts being monitored?
- 4. What impacts to ringed seals have harvesters identified that are not addressed by the aerial surveys, for example with respect to harvesting and food security, and how are these being assessed?

Baffinland Response:

1. Ringed seals generally demonstrate high site fidelity, with seals occupying similar home ranges used the previous winter and spring, and adopting similar annual migration behaviour (Kelly et al. 2010). If the Project (or a separate stressor external to the Project) were to result in changes to the home range or migratory behaviour of ringed seal in the RSA, we would expect to see this reflected through corresponding changes in ringed seal density in the various strata of the RSA. The results of the 2021 RSASP indicate that ringed seal densities are currently similar to densities recorded in 2016-2017 (noting ore shipping began in 2015 and icebreaking activities began in 2018).

2. See response to QIA-04. Aerial surveys allow Baffinland to derive density estimates (i.e. relative abundance) of ringed seals in the RSA and identify if there is a change in ringed seal density in the RSA (across strata) beyond natural annual variability.

3. As stated in the above response, ringed seals demonstrate high site fidelity. Thus, the densities presented in the present report are relevant to the periods ringed seal are closely associated with land-fast ice (fall, winter, spring). During the summer months, the relative abundance of ringed seal in the RSA is captured as part of the Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program (where sightings data is collected for all marine mammals included ringed seal). To date, ringed seal sighting rates have not shown to be decreasing in the RSA (Golder 2022).



4. Impacts on ringed seal harvesting and food security is beyond the scope of the ringed seal aerial survey report. The present report is focused on quantifying ringed seal density and distribution in the RSA. With monitoring program results for ringed seal in 2021 remaining similar to previous years, the availability of seal for harvest should have also remained similar to previous years. Further discussion is required with the MHTO to reconcile differences between monitoring results and harvester's experiences.

- Golder. 2022. 2021 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program (MMAS) Draft Report. Golder Report No.1663724-353-R-RevB. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 96 p.+ appendices.
- Kelly, B. P., et al. 2010. Seasonal home ranges and fidelity to breeding sites among ringed seals. Polar Biology 33:1095–1109.

Comment No.:	QIA-07
Section Reference:	2.2 Study Area and Design
Comment:	

Figure 2 on page 8 is mis-labeled in the bottom right corner of the map as Figure 1.

Baffinland Response:

This has been corrected in the final version.

Comment No.:	QIA-08
Section Reference:	Section 2.3.2.2, section 2.4.5
Comment:	

The hotspot analysis used bathymetry data that was not uniform across the study area, ranging from 5 m resolution in Assomption Harbour, to 20 m resolution in Milne Inlet and western Eclipse Sound, to 500 m in eastern Eclipse Sound and Navy Board Inlet (section 2.3.2.2).

1. What were the various data sources?

Version 4 of the International Bathymetric Chart of the Arctic Ocean (IBCAO) is now available at 200 m resolution (and v. 3 released in 2012 was 400 m, so still an improvement over the 500 m resolution used here).

Bathymetry data informed the majority of the model covariates and it is therefore important that the



best available data be used.

- 2. Why was a 500 m resolution used in some areas when finer resolution data are available?
- 3. How sensitive are results to variable bathymetric resolution?

Section 2.4.5, p. 35 states: "The low deviance explained value and issues with the diagnostic plots indicate that important covariates are likely missing from the models. Ice type/thickness and tidal currents/heights are likely to be import [sic] covariates that could help to explain the distribution of seal sighting [sic] but are not available in detail for the study area. Reducing the segment length and width when correlating bathymetry data may improve the model fit but this would require removing the 500 m bathymetry grid area from the model."

QIA recommends exploring a simpler solution here with respect to bathymetry - use a higher resolution data set.

Ice and snow thickness can be estimated from satellite imagery, as noted in a previous comment, and tidal data are available from stations at Cape Liverpool (northern Bylot Island) and Milne Inlet (Head).

- 4. Were any attempts made to include tidal data?
- 5. Snow roughness estimates were collected during the survey, was this included as a co-variate?

Jakobsson, M., Mayer, L.A., Bringensparr, C. et al. 2020. The International Bathymetric Chart of the Arctic Ocean Version 4.0. Scientific Data 7: 176. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-0520-9

Baffinland Response:

1. Bathymetry data sources: 500 m resolution bathymetry is from the ICBAO while both of the 5 and 20 m resolution bathymetry was compiled from Canadian Hydrographic Survey charts. We will investigate using the 200m IBCAO data in future models.

2. We were unaware that finer resolution bathymetry data was available.

3. We did not perform a sensitivity analysis for any variable in the model, but we would expect that the inclusion of refined bathymetry data would improve model performance.

4. The availability of tide data was investigated but no sources were apparent that would populate all cells of the prediction grid.

5. Snow roughness data was not included as a covariate in the model since it was not collected for all the cells in the prediction grid. For a covariate to be valid, it has to be available for every cell in the density prediction grid and it was not practical to record snow roughness for thousands of locations using this method.



Comment No.:	QIA-09
Section Reference:	Section 2.4.3
Comment:	

One polar bear was observed during the 2021 seal survey (section 2.4.3). Were no bears observed in the 2014 survey conducted by LGL?

Baffinland Response:

Two polar bear sightings were observed in the 2014 survey conducted by LGL. One sighting of a single polar bear was observed on 7 June 2014 in the Pond Inlet stratum. One sighting of a mother with two cubs was observed on 10 June 2014 in the Pond Inlet stratum.

Comment No.:	QIA-10
Section Reference:	Section 2.4.5, section 2.5.2
Comment:	

Did the ringed seal hotspot analysis use the same methods as that in Yurkowski et al. (2018)?

1. If not, how might this affect comparability?

Section 2.5.2 notes that a ringed seal hotspot identified in 2016 and 2017 in eastern Eclipse Sound was not present in 2021.

2. Why? What explanatory factors were considered?

Baffinland Response:

1. The ringed seal hotspot analysis in the 2021 Ringed Seal Aerial Survey Program did not use the same methods as that described in Yurkowski et al. (2018). The present study used density surface modelling (Miller et al. 2021; Wood 2021; Miller 2021), as indicated and referenced in Section 2.3.2.2 of the report. The ringed seal hotspot analysis methods employed by Yurkowski et al. (2018) involved the use of 5 km x 5 km grid cells for analysis, in combination with a 'diagonal' grid orientation and ~4.5km inter-transect spacing in the Eclipse-Milne region. This approach results in an unbalanced survey effort amongst the grid cells. Additionally, the inter-transect spacing of the transects in Navy Board Inlet were approximately twice that of the inter-transect spacing in Milne and Eclipse. This resulted in grid cells that were often associated with zero survey effort. There is no indication in Yurkowski et al. (2018) that seal counts were weighted by effort in the analysis. The statistic presented by Yurkowski et al. (2018) for spatial clustering (i.e., 'significant' hotspots) involved a comparative analysis of seal densities in nearby grid cells. Since the survey effort in adjacent grid cells would have varied considerably (due to variable survey effort across grid cells), the results presented for hot spots are likely skewed. For these reasons,



it was considered inappropriate to employ the methods used by Yurkowski et al. (2018) for the 2021 ringed seal hotspot analysis. As a result, results for the seal hotspot analysis are not statistically comparable between the present study and Yurkowski et al. (2018). The comparative analysis of ringed seal density between 2021 and the previous surveys in the RSA (Yurkowski et al. 2018) is based on the strip transect density data (i.e., the current report provides a comparative analysis of ringed seal density from strip transect data in 2021 to that in 2016-2017 as presented in Yurkowski et al. 2018).

2. Surveys flown in 2016 and 2017 surveyed the eastern Eclipse Sound stratum up to the Pond Inlet floe edge. The location of the ringed seal hotspot in Eastern Eclipse was located more westward in 2017 than in 2016. The most eastward survey transects in the 2021 survey were not flown at the request of the Mittimatalik Hunters & Trappers Organization (MHTO) to avoid potential interference with community harvesting at the floe edge (i.e., 2021 surveys did not include effort at or near the floe edge). Therefore, the 2021 survey transects only overlapped with the hotspot identified in 2017 and not 2016. This might explain why no similar hotspot in eastern Eclipse was identified in 2021. The text provided in Section 2.5.2 acknowledges this point with the following statement: "A possible explanation for the lack of a hotspot in eastern Eclipse Sound in 2021 may be a result of some transects being removed from the eastern portion of ES stratum".

Miller, D.L. 2021. Distance: Distance sampling detection function and abundance estimation. R package version 1.0.4.

Miller, D.L., Rexstad, E., Burt, L., Bravington, M.V. and S. Hedley. 2021. dsm: Density surface modelling of line transect data. R package version 2.3.1.

Wood, S. 2021. mgcv: Generalized additive (mixed) models. R package version 1.8-38.

Yurkowski, D.J., B.G. Young, J.B. Dunn, and S.H. Ferguson. 2018. Spring distribution of ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) in Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet, Nunavut: implications for potential ice-breaking activities. Arctic Science https://doi.org/10.1139/as-2018-0020.

Comment No.:	QIA-11
Section Reference:	Section 2.4.5, Appendix A
Comment:	

Re: co-variates, why use "distance from Navy Board Inlet floe edge" and "distance from Pond Inlet floe edge" for all sightings? Distance to the Eclipse Sound floe edge would be more relevant for some sightings, whereas Navy Board Inlet could be more relevant to others. Using a "distance to closest floe edge" variable might better reflect the influence of floe edge locations on seal distribution throughout the RSA.

Baffinland Response:

During the data analysis stage, we did explore the use of one co-variable for 'distance to floe edge', as opposed to a separate co-variable for each floe edge during the analysis stage. This approach resulted in a poor (i.e., unrealistic) fit of the modelled data relative to the actual recorded observations. Assigning a separate co-variable for each floe edge location allowed for a better fit of the modelled data.



A 'closest floe-edge' variable was attempted but its inclusion in the model would cause the resulting prediction to produce drastically skewed results when compared to actual observations. The interpretation was that with a high concentration of sightings in the southeast of the study area combined with the floe edges occurring in the north and east of the study area, that the simple linear relationship between the variables overwhelmed other variables in the model including the spatial portion of the model.

Comment No.:	QIA-12
Section Reference:	5.0 Recommendations
Comment:	

No 2022 survey is recommended. There was no icebreaking activity in 2021, is it proposed for 2022?

Baffinland Response:

No icebreaking activity is proposed to occur during the 2022 early shoulder season.

Comment No.:	QIA-13
Section Reference:	Appendix B - Distance Sampling and Mark- Recapture Models
Comment:	

Table B-1 caption says "Narwhal".

Baffinland Response:

The caption in Table B-1 was mislabeled (should read 'ringed seal'). The text in the table caption has been corrected in the final report.



golder.com